


CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK 
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a 
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective 
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to 
invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean 
that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that 
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main 
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of 
this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability 
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this 
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Shentong Robot Education Group Company Limited (the 
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, 
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock 
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The 
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the 
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2) 
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all 
opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on 
bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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The following is a summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the 
last five financial years.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Year ended 31 March
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Revenue 5,233 128,841 177,415 141,482 91,507

(Loss)/profit before tax (23,226) (288,134) 85,425 45,065 11,507

Income tax credit/(expense) 24 55,101 (26,593) (17,463) (7,661)

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners (23,202) (233,033) 58,832 27,602 3,846

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (HK cent(s)) (1.22) (12.29) 3.10 1.51 0.24
      

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Total assets 371,218 368,374 704,849 667,302 538,808

Total liabilities (333,178) (330,618) (405,148) (393,125) (447,382)
      

Net assets/(liabilities) 38,040 37,756 299,701 274,177 91,426
      

Net assets/(liabilities) per share (HK cent(s)) 2.01 1.99 15.81 14.46 5.52
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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board of the Directors (the “Board”), I am pleased to present the audited consolidated results of 
Shentong Robot Education Group Company Limited (“Shentong Robot Education” or the “Company”, together with its 
subsidiary companies, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group recorded consolidated revenue of approximately HK$5,233,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021, 
representing a decrease of approximately 95.9% as compared to approximately HK$128,841,000 for the year ended 31 
March 2020.

The Group made a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$23,202,000 for the year ended 31 
March 2021, representing a decrease of approximately 90.0% as compared to approximately HK$233,033,000 for the 
year ended 31 March 2020. The improvement was mainly due to the decrease in the total of the impairment losses on 
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill and intangible assets (the “Impairment Losses”) 
from approximately HK$335,830,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 to nil for the year ended 31 March 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal business activities of the Group are the provision of promotion and management services for an electronic 
smart card “Designated Shentong Card” in the PRC (the “Promotion and Management Business”) and organizing and 
hosting China Robot Competition and provision of robotics related education, training and consultancy services in the 
PRC (the “Robotics Business”). The Group recorded a decrease of approximately 95.9% in revenue for the year ended 
31 March 2021 as compared with that for the year ended 31 March 2020. The decrease in the revenue of the Group for 
the financial period was primarily due to the prolonged impositions of governmental social distancing measures and the 
disruptions to economic activities caused by the outbreak of COVID-19.

As the COVID-19 outbreak has widespread negative impact on all businesses in general, the businesses of the ultimate 
customers of CCC, being a company which wholly-owns CCI which in turn is a substantial shareholder of the Company, 
have been adversely affected while some of which had even become insolvent, and the scale-down of CCC’s ultimate 
customers and its implementation of cost control measures in turn had led to a decrease in the revenue of CCC from 
hotline rental and server hosting and hence a decrease in promotion and after-sale services fees received by the Group. 
Further, the revenue generated from the Promotion and Management Business had decreased due to the reasons that 
marketing and promotion activities such as client pitching could not be conducted due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in 
the PRC, and that there were less active players for CCC’s card game mobile application which uses the Designated 
Shentong Card system as a result from the Group putting more resources to the Robotics Business as the growth of the 
Promotion and Management Business was low or even negative before the COVID-19 outbreak.

In relation to the Robotics Business, robotics classes of our Group which are normally conducted at schools and training 
centres of the Group have been suspended for the period from the end of the January 2020 to August 2020 and from 
the start of the January 2021 to mid of the February 2021 due to the precaution measures imposed by the local 
government in the PRC. Further to the suspension measures, the following precaution measures were occasionally 
imposed during the year, (i) schools have been compelled to shorten their lesson times and suspend classes for non-
academic subjects, which include the robotics classes provided by the Group; (ii) the number of students per class is 
limited to 15, as required by measures imposed by the local government in the PRC; and (iii) all robotics competitions 
which are originally planned to be held by the Group and are normally an important channel for the Group to source its 
customers, have been completely suspended since January 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.
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In light of the foregoing circumstances, there was a significant decrease in the revenue of the Group for the year ended 
31 March 2021 which could not fully cover the fixed costs of operation such as depreciation, staff costs, customer 
service hotline rental, server hosting fees, thus loss attributable to owners of the Company and gross loss incurred.

It is expected by the Group, based on its assessment of the current circumstances, upon the commencement of 
distribution of the COVID-19 vaccine, it is expected that the restriction measures will be gradually eased and the revenue 
will gradually recover afterward but the revenue level as recorded by the Group before the COVID-19 outbreak may not 
be attained in the short future. As explained above, it is considered by the Board that the drop in the Group’s revenue 
was mainly due to the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak and as such, the loss-making position only indicated a 
temporary downturn.

In light of the current situation of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group’s business plan includes trying to adjust its robotics 
class arrangements to provide more online courses instead of physical classes, and it is expected that the Group will 
continue to apply its cost saving measures, including but not limited to, seeking to reduce the staff cost to the minimum 
necessary level and solicitate and negotiate with CCC for waiver of various expenses. The Company expects that, after 
the releasing of the current restriction measures imposed by the government authority, more training classes will 
gradually resume operation depending on the recovery of demand for students to attend the classes.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group plans to launch various robotics theme activities in Heilongjiang Province. In addition to various 
robotics education courses and teacher training, we will actively cooperate with members of the National School Sports 
Robot League in Heilongjiang Province to plan intelligent robotics classrooms. The above activities help to promote 
smart education into the campus, further strengthening the internationalisation and diversification of robotics education 
in the PRC. With the continuous development of robotics education projects, China’s educational reform and the 
development of the robotics industry are expected to reach a new level. In addition to building a good platform for 
robotics education for young people in Heilongjiang Province, the Group will actively participate in planning the national 
development strategy of robotics education and strive to cultivate the robotics industry and robotics professionals.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to our shareholders for their 
tremendous support and to my fellow Directors and our management and staff for their dedication and contribution in 
the past year.

He Chenguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REVENUE AND PROFITABILITY

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$5,233,000 (2020: approximately HK$128,841,000) for the year 
ended 31 March 2021, representing a decrease of approximately 95.9% as compared with the year ended 31 March 
2020 which was primarily due to the interruption of business operation caused by the outbreak of COVID-19.

The Group’s gross loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to approximately HK$2,025,000 as compared to 
gross profit of approximately HK$84,449,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020. The decrease was mainly attributable 
to the interruption of business operation caused by the outbreak of COVID-19.

Selling and distribution and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 2021 was approximately 
HK$17,542,000 as compared to approximately HK$37,825,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The Group made a loss attributable to owners of approximately HK$23,202,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 as 
compared to approximately HK$233,033,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020. The improvement was mainly due to 
the decrease of Impairment Losses from approximately HK$335,830,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 to nil for the 
year ended 31 March 2021.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the performance of the Group by reportable segments is set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had outstanding promissory note at principal amount of approximately HK$94.4 million 
(as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$94.4 million) with carrying value of approximately HK$111.4 million (as at 31 
March 2020: approximately HK$109.5 million). The promissory note was unsecured and interest bearing at 2% per 
annum. On 31 March 2021, the Group and China Communication Investment Limited (“CCI”), being the noteholder, 
agreed to extend the maturity date to 30 June 2022. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had outstanding loans from CCI of 
approximately HK$8.3 million (as at 31 March 2020: HK$Nil). The loans were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand. Other than the above, the Group did not have any other committed borrowing facilities as at 31 March 2021 (as 
at 31 March 2020: Nil).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had net current assets  of approximately HK$83.1 million (as at 31 March 2020: 
approximately HK$84.1 million). The Group’s current assets mainly consisted of cash and cash equivalents of 
approximately HK$275.4 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$262.6 million) and prepayments, deposits and 
other receivables of approximately HK$5.8 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$18.4 million). The Group’s 
current liabilities mainly include accruals and other payables of approximately HK$114.4 million (as at 31 March 2020: 
approximately HK$117.3 million), current tax liabilities of approximately HK$33.0 million (as at 31 March 2020: 
approximately HK$35.7 million), contract liabilities of approximately HK$39.6 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately 
HK$39.6 million) and interest free loans from a substantial shareholder of the Company, CCI, of approximately HK$8.3 
million (as at 31 March 2020: HK$ Nil).

At present, the Group generally finances its operations and investment activities with internal resources.
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GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is measured by total interest-bearing borrowings as a percentage of equity. As at 31 March 2021, the 
gearing ratio was 292.9% (as at 31 March 2020: 290.1%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There was no change in the capital structure during the year.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge on its assets as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

EMPLOYEES, REMUNERATION POLICIES AND STAFF COSTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 99 employees (2020: 136). The staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2021 was 
approximately HK$11.5 million (2020: HK$22.0 million). The Group’s remuneration is determined with reference to the 
market conditions and the performance, qualifications and experience of individual employees while year-end bonus is 
based on the individual performance as recognition of and reward for their contributions. Other benefits accruing its 
employees include share option scheme, contributions made to statutory mandatory provident fund scheme and a group 
medical scheme to its employees.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSETS

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, the Group had no significant investment. As at 31 March 2021, 
the Group has no plan for material investments or acquisition of capital assets. Nevertheless, the Group is constantly 
looking for such opportunities to enhance the shareholders’ value.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries during the year.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly carried in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (“RMB”) and the assets 
and liabilities of the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB. The Group does not expect 
significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging 
policy. However, the management of the Group will monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging 
significant currency exposure should the need arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Details of capital commitment is set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary companies had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
shares on the GEM during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Chenguang, aged 60, joined the Group and was elected as the Chairman of the Group in April 2006. He is 
responsible for formulating the Group’s strategy of overall business development. Mr. He holds a professional 
qualification in business administration and has extensive experience in management of major enterprises, in particular, 
management, operation and strategic development of telecommunication industry in the PRC.

Mr. He was the chairman of Energy Committee of The Chinese People’s Association for Friendship with Foreign 
Countries and is currently the vice president of China-Cuba Friendship Association (a friendship association with foreign 
countries and a national people’s organisation of the PRC which was founded in 1962). Mr. He is a part-time professor in 
Harbin Engineering University and University of Science and Technology Beijing and was elected as a fellow of the 
Academy of Engineering and Technology of the Development World in 2019. In 2011, Mr. He has also been awarded 
“Peaceful Development Contribution Award” jointly issued by the Chinese People’s Association for Friendship with 
Foreign Countries and China Friendship Foundation for Peace and Development.

Mr. Bao Yueqing, aged 51, joined the Group in April 2010 as an executive Director until 30 June 2011 and subsequently 
as a general manager of the Company in May 2012 and was appointed as an executive Director again and the chief 
executive officer of the Group in January 2014. He is responsible for the daily operation of the Group and formulating 
and implementation of the Company’s business strategies. Mr. Bao holds a Bachelor degree of Economics Management 
from Heilongjiang University and has extensive experience in management of major enterprises, in particular, 
management, operation and strategic development of telecommunication industry in the PRC.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yip Tai Him, aged 50 joined the Group in October 2002. He is currently the chairman of each of the audit committee 
and remuneration committee and member of the nomination committee of the Company. He is responsible for 
reviewing the Company’s annual report and accounts, half yearly reports and quarterly reports and to provide advices 
and comments thereon to the Board.

Mr. Yip is a practising accountant in Hong Kong. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United 
Kingdom and the institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has over 26 years of experience in 
accounting, auditing and financial management.

Mr. Yip is currently an independent non-executive director of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited, Redco Properties 
Group Limited and Zhongchang International Holdings Group Limited (all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange). In 
the past three years, he was also an independent non-executive director of China Carbon Neutral Development Group 
Limited (formerly known as Bisu Technology Group International Limited) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange), for 
the period from 20 July 2015 to 12 April 2019 and Sino Golf Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange), 
for the period from 14 September 2015 to 9 November 2018.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Han Liqun, aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in January 2014. Ms. Han holds a 
Bachelor degree of Instrumentation and Automation from Taiyuan University of Technology, a Master degree from the 
Institute of Computing Technology of the Chinese Academy of Sciences and a Doctorate degree of Pattern Recognition 
and Intelligent Systems from Beijing Institute of Technology. Ms. Han was a visiting research fellow at City University 
London.

Ms. Han has long been participated in the research in aspects such as artificial neural network theory and applications, 
pattern recognition and intelligent information processing as well as intelligent control and detection. She completed 
various significant scientific and technological research projects with outstanding results on pattern recognition and 
intelligent detection and control issues in light industry, chemical, agricultural, transportation and aerospace industries. 
Ms. Han also published 150 theses and 20 books, a number of which were included by various international literature 
institutions. Furthermore, she chaired and participated in over 20 scientific research projects, obtained 4 national 
invention patents and received a second prize from the first Wu Wenjun Artificial Intelligence Science Technology 
Awards.

Ms. Han, Beijing Outstanding Teacher, has been engaged in education for more than 25 years and taught 15 courses. 
She has taught in Beijing Light Industry School under the Ministry of Light Industry of the PRC and Beijing Technology 
and Business University as the Dean, illustrating her outstanding teaching and research achievements. She chaired over 
20 education reforms in the Ministry of Education of the PRC, Ministry of Light Industry, Beijing Municipal Commission 
of Education, etc. By virtue of her teaching results, she received a grand prize and a first prize from the Institutional 
Outstanding Teaching Achievement Awards and a second prize from the Beijing Teaching Achievement Awards.

Ms. Han is currently the Member and Executive Vice President of Chinese Association for Artificial Intelligence and the 
Chairman of the Working Committee of Intelligence Products and Industry, the Vice Chairman of the Working 
Committee and the Chairman of the Expert Committee of the China Robotics Sports, the fellow of the Academy of 
Engineering of the Developing World, the Executive Vice President of China Intelligence Robots Innovation Alliance (全
國智能機器人創新聯盟), the Chairman of the International Robotics Competition and Maker Education Alliance (國際機器
人競技與創客教育聯盟), the Vice President of the Simulation Application Society of China Computer Users Association, 
the Deputy Director of the Editorial Board of “Computer Simulation” and the Associate Editor-in-Chief of ”CAAI 
Transactions on Intelligent Systems”.

Ms. Zhang Li, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in March 2014. Ms. Zhang holds a 
Bachelor of Engineering in Solid Mechanics from the Department of Mathematics and Mechanics of Henan University of 
Science and Technology, China, a Master of Engineering in Mechanical Design from the Department of Mechanical 
Design of Henan University of Science and Technology, China, and a Doctor of Engineering in Composite Materials from 
the School of Material Engineering of Wuhan University of Technology, China. Ms. Zhang is a professor at the School of 
Material and Mechanical Engineering of Beijing Technology and Business University, China, instructing the graduates 
and doctoral students. She was also the dean of the School of Mechanical Automation, the dean of the School of 
Mechanical Engineering and the deputy director of the Office of Evaluation and Construction for Undergraduate 
Assessment of Beijing Technology and Business University. Since 2007, Ms. Zhang has been to Canada, Singapore, the 
United States, the United Kingdom, Australia and other countries for academic exchanges and visits.
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Ms. Zhang’s expertise is in the study of mechanical automation and composite materials. Ms. Zhang has outstanding 
achievements in education and scientific research. Ms. Zhang focuses on the study of mechanical design and mechanics 
of composite materials, and engages in the design, manufacture and application of advanced composite material 
components as well as computer-aided engineering. She has chaired or participated in over 30 projects, such as 
“Research of Thermal Dynamic Performance of Composite Engines” by National Natural Science Foundation of China, 
National Science and Technology Support Program, the science and technology development project of “Research of 
Dynamic Performance of Composite Flywheels” by Beijing Municipal Commission of Education, talent training funded 
projects in Beijing and enterprise service projects. Ms. Zhang has published over 100 academic papers, some of which 
were included by various international literature institutions. She published 16 books, translations and textbooks and 1 
Beijing quality textbook.

Ms. Zhang, an Excellent Teacher, has engaged in education for over 36 years. She was awarded the title of National 
Excellent Teacher, Top Creative Talent in Beijing Universities and the award of Top Teacher in Beijing Universities. She 
has also been merited as the Backbone Teacher of Mechanical Engineering across the century. Ms. Zhang served as the 
leader of Beijing Academic Innovation Team and won the First Class Award for School Education and Teaching 
Achievement. She was responsible for the completion of the Country’s “10th five-year” key planning issues for tertiary 
education “Research on the education reform of new international division for electrical and mechanical engineering” 
and the Beijing education reform project “Improvement, reform and discussion on the education system, methodology 
and contents of engineering mechanics”. She was also funded by the Beijing inter-organisational talent project.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yiu King Ming, aged 36, joined the Group in September 2015, is the financial controller and company secretary of 
the Group. He is responsible for financial planning and reporting and general administration of the Group. Mr. Yiu holds a 
Bachelor Degree of Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Yiu is a member of the HKICPA and 
CPA Australia. Prior to joining to the Group, he worked in a multinational accounting firm and has over 9 years’ 
experience in auditing.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges that good and effective corporate governance could make an important contribution to 
corporate success and enhance values to the Group and our shareholders. Therefore, the Board is committed to 
maintaining and ensuring the standards of corporate governance within the Group and to ensure that the business 
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper and responsible manner. Save as disclosed below, the 
Group has adopted the practices and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in 
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2021.

Under Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-executive Directors and other non-executive directors 
should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the shareholders. Ms. Han Liqun 
and Ms. Zhang Li, the independent non-executive Directors, were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the 
Company held on 31 July 2020 (the “2020 AGM”) and the extraordinary general meeting held on 30 March 2021 due to 
their other business activities and unexpected engagement.

In addition, under the Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the Board should attend the annual general 
meeting of the Company and he should also invite the chairman of the audit committee, remuneration committee, 
nomination committee and any other committees (as appropriate) of the Company to attend. Mr. He Chenguang 
(chairman of the Board and chairman of the nomination committee of the Company) was unable to attend the 2020 
AGM due to his other business activities and unexpected engagement. Mr. Bao Yueqing (executive Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company) was appointed as the chairman of the 2020 AGM to answer and address questions 
raised by shareholders of the Company at the 2020 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in 
the CG Code. The key principles and practices of the Company are summarised below.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company recommends Directors to attend relevant 
seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year ended 31 March 2021, all Directors have 
participated in continuous professional development programmes such as attending external conferences, seminars 
organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to 
the Board. The Company is of the view that all Directors has complied with the code provisions A.6.5. A record of the 
training received by the respective Directors are kept and updated by the company secretary of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the 
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 
March 2021. The Company also had made specific enquiry of all the Directors and the Company was not aware of any 
non-compliance with the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the 
Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Directors of which two are executive Directors and three are 
independent non-executive Directors. During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Board 
comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:
Mr. He Chenguang, Chairman of the Board
Mr. Bao Yueqing, Chief Executive Officer

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Yip Tai Him
Ms. Han Liqun
Ms. Zhang Li

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” 
on pages 9 to 11 of this report.

The number of the Board meetings and the other committees’ meetings held for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the 
attendance of each Director are as follows:

Numbers of the meetings attended/held

Board

Independent
Board

Committee
Audit

Committee
Remuneration

Committee
Nomination
Committee

      

Executive Directors
Mr. He Chenguang 10/10 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Bao Yueqing 10/10 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yip Tai Him 10/10 2/2 5/5 1/1 1/1
Ms. Han Liqun 10/10 2/2 5/5 1/1 1/1
Ms. Zhang Li 10/10 2/2 5/5 1/1 1/1
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Corporate Governance Report

During the year, a total of two general meetings of the Company were held and the attendance record is as follow:

Number of 
the meeting 

attended/held
  

Executive Directors
Mr. He Chenguang 0/2
Mr. Bao Yueqing 2/2

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yip Tai Him 2/2
Ms. Han Liqun 0/2
Ms. Zhang Li 0/2

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and lead the Group in an ethical, responsible and effective manner. The 
Board sets the overall strategic directions of the Group, establishes effective management and monitors its 
performance. The Board is required to meet at least four times a year in addition to the meetings to approve the financial 
results. Notice of at least 14 days is given for a regular Board meeting and reasonable notice is generally given to all 
Directors for other Board meetings. Apart from these regular meeting, Board meetings are also held to approve major 
issues and notice of each regular meeting is given to all Directors. All relevant materials, including draft minutes were 
sent to all Directors relating to the matters brought before the meeting to ensure that the Directors are given sufficient 
time to review the same. All the Directors have been provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, and, 
upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. All Directors will have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for 
Board meetings. Matters requiring the Board’s unanimous decision include material acquisitions or disposals of assets, 
significant investments, capital projects, annual budgets, and key issues relating to human resources and administration 
matters.

According to the practice of the Board, any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interest for a substantial 
shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or a Director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a 
Board meeting. The articles of association (the “Articles”) contain certain provision requiring such Directors to abstain 
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at such meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or 
any of their respective associates have a material interests.

Daily operations and administration are delegated to the senior management team. All the said minutes are kept by the 
company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any 
Director.

According to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if the number 
is not three or multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by 
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. All 
Directors appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall be subject to election by the Shareholders 
at the first general meeting after their appointment.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year, Directors have regular updates on changes and developments 
of the Group’s business and to the regulatory environments in which the Group operates. All Directors are also 
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.



Corporate Governance Report

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 15

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held by separate individuals. The role and 
responsibilities of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive Officer. The position of the Chairman is held 
by Mr. He Chenguang. The position of the Chief Executive Officer is held by Mr. Bao Yueqing. The Chairman was 
responsible for leading the Board in forming the Group’s strategies and policies and for organising the business of the 
Board. The Chief Executive Officer was responsible for the daily operations of the Group and was accountable to the 
Board for the Group’s financial and operational performance.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board currently comprises three independent 
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board. Each of the independent non-executive Directors 
is appointed for a specific term. All the three independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a term of 
one year and they are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.

The Company has received the annual independence confirmation from each of Mr. Yip Tai Him, Ms. Han Liqun and Ms. 
Zhang Li (all being independent non-executive Directors) pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board has 
assessed their independence and concluded that all of them satisfied the independence criteria. Amongst three 
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yip Tai Him has the appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and 
related financial management expertise required under Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules.

To assist the execution of its responsibilities, three Board committees, namely Audit Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Nomination Committee, have been established by the Board. These committees well function within 
the clearly defined terms of reference. All independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in these 
committees to ensure the independence and objectivity.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

At the Board meeting held on 1 April 2005, a Remuneration Committee has been established. The Remuneration 
Committee consists of three members, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration 
Committee is chaired by Mr. Yip Tai Him and meets at least once a year.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are to review and recommend the remuneration packages of 
the Directors and the senior management of the Group, oversee and review the administration of the Share Option 
Scheme and to review the appropriateness of compensation for Directors and the senior management of the Group. No 
Director is involved in determining his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee takes into consideration the market condition, comparable companies, past performance 
and the experience and knowledge possessed when determining remuneration packages of the Directors. The 
remuneration package for executive Directors comprises a basic salary and a discretionary bonus for their contributions 
in accordance with code provisions B.1.2(c)(ii). All revisions to remuneration packages of the Directors are subject to the 
review and approval of the Board.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

At the Board meeting held on 30 April 2012, a Nomination Committee has been established. The Nomination Committee 
consists of four members, of which the present Nomination Committee consists of a majority of independent non-
executive Directors. The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. He Chenguang. The primary duties of the Nomination 
Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and to make 
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and 
succession planning for Directors. It also has the responsibility to ensure the Board has an appropriate balance of 
independent Directors, with a mix of business experience in relevant disciplines. According to the board diversity policy 
adopted by the Nomination Committee, Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but 
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of 
service etc. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective 
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of 
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. The final decision will be based on merit and 
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

All Directors are subject to election by shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting. The new Directors are 
notified on the role of the Board and Board Committee, their duties and obligation as a director of a listed company.

Mr. Bao Yueqing and Mr. Yip Tai Him will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and the re-election of Mr. Bao 
Yueqing as executive Director and Mr. Yip Tai Him as independent non-executive Director are to be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for the following corporate governance functions:

•	 to	develop	and	review	the	Company’s	policies	and	practices	on	corporate	governance	and	make	recommendations	
to the Board;

•	 to	review	and	monitor	the	training	and	continuous	professional	development	of	Directors	and	senior	management;
•	 to	review	and	monitor	the	Company’s	policies	and	practices	on	compliance	with	legal	and	regulatory	requirements;
•	 to	develop,	review	and	monitor	the	code	of	conduct	and	compliance	manual	(if	any)	applicable	to	employees	and	

Directors;
•	 to	review	the	Company’s	compliance	with	the	code	provisions	and	disclosure	in	the	Corporate	Governance	Report;	

and
•	 such	other	corporate	governance	and	functions	set	out	in	the	code	provisions	(as	amended	from	time	to	time)	for	

which the Board are responsible.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company has appointed RSM Hong Kong as the auditors of the Group (the “Auditor”) since April 2011. The audit 
committee is responsible for considering the appointment of the external auditor, including whether such non-audit 
engagements could affect their independence. The Board is authorised in the annual general meeting to determine the 
remuneration of the Auditor. For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Auditor’s remuneration in connection with the 
provision of audit and non-audit services paid by the Group were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March
2021 2020
HK$ HK$

   

Statutory audit services 625,000 700,000
Non-audit services (other services, mainly consist of review of 
 interim financial statements) 505,000 595,000
   

1,130,000 1,295,000
   

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The written terms of reference, which describe the authorities and duties of the audit committee, were implemented in 
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. The audit committee comprises three members, all of whom are independent 
non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Yip Tai Him.

The audit committee meets at least four times each year. The main duties of the audit committee are summarised as 
follows:

— Discuss the work with the external auditors of the Company;
— Meet with external auditors of the Company, when they consider necessary;
— Review the quarterly, interim and annual financial statements and the report of the independent auditors on the 

Company’s annual consolidated financial statements before these are presented to the Board;
— Ensure the quarterly, interim and annual consolidated financial statements are properly prepared;
— Review the independence of the external auditors annually;
— Ensure that cooperation is provided by management to the external auditors; and
— Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.

The audit committee is empowered to conduct investigations on any matters within the scope of responsibilities of the 
audit committee. The audit committee is authorised to obtain independent professional advices if it deems necessary to 
discharge its responsibilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021, the audit committee held five meetings in which the members of the audit 
committee reviewed and concluded with satisfaction in relation to the internal control system of the Group and the 
following reports:

— Annual report for the year ended 31 March 2020;
— Quarterly reports for the first quarter and third quarter of 2020/21;
— Interim report for the first six months of 2020/21; and
— Review of continuing connected transactions of the Group.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to their financial reporting are set out in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report on pages 51 to 54 of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and effective risk management and internal control systems in 
order to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and to provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company does not maintain an internal audit function. The Company engaged a professional company to perform a 
risk management and internal control review occasionally in order to strengthen the risk management and to perform 
ongoing internal control system of the Group. The Company is of the opinion that taking into account the size and 
complexity of the Group’s operations and business and the nature of the risks and challenges the Group faces and there 
is no immediate need to build up an internal audit function within the Group. The Company will review the need on an 
annual basis.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yiu King Ming has been the company secretary of the Company since September 2015. Mr. Yiu has confirmed that 
he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 March 2021. The Company 
is of the view that Mr. Yiu has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to put forward proposals and to convene a general meeting
In accordance with the Company’s Article 69, two or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition 
of not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the 
Company, shall at all times have the right by written requisition to the Company, to require a general meeting to be 
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If the Board does not within twenty-
one (21) days from the date of deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a 
further twenty-one (21) days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the total 
voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in 
which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the 
expiration of three months from the date of the deposit of such requisitions, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the 
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the principal place of 
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Units 2115–2116, 21/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168–200 
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Board.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The annual general meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders to exchange their views with the Board. Mr. Bao 
Yueqing (an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company) had attended the annual general meeting 
held on 31 July 2020 to answer questions from the shareholders. The Company’s website (http://www.srobotedu.com) 
offers a communication channel between the Company and the Shareholders and potential investors.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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I. ABOUT THIS REPORT

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Shentong Robot Education Group Company Limited (the “Company”) is 
pleased to announce the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group” or “we” or “us”). This Report summarises the environmental, 
social and governance policies, sustainable development strategies, management practices, measures and 
performance adopted by the Group.

This Report covers promotion and management of the Group’s electronic smart card “CRC” Shentong Card 
(“Shentong Card”) and the sustainability strategies, policies and performances in the environment and social 
aspects of the business in the provision of robotics training courses during the reporting period for the year ended 
31 March 2021; and makes disclosures pursuant to the “comply or explain” provisions of the “Environmental, 
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” set out in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The relevant provisions and contents are set out at the end of this 
Report.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s environmental, social and governance strategic formulation, evaluating 
and determining the Group’s environmental, social and governance-related risks, as well as ensuring that 
appropriate and effective environmental, social and governance risk management measures and internal control 
systems are in place and reporting on performance in this regard. In order to determine the environmental, social 
and governance reporting scopes, we have undergone discussion with each management personnel and identified 
the environmental, social and governance items concerned by major stakeholders and the Group, and assessed 
their importance to both parties, so as to choose those comparatively important environmental and social issues 
for disclosure in this Report.

II. STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT

While maintaining the sustainable development of business, the Group actively undertakes social responsibilities 
and hopes to contribute to both economy and society, providing support for environmental protection and the 
communities in which we operate for many years. We maintain close contact with our stakeholders, including 
government/regulatory organisations, shareholders/investors, employees, customers, suppliers, communities, etc. 
and strive to balance their opinions and interests through constructive communications in order to determine the 
directions of our sustainable development. We assess and determine our environmental, social and governance 
risks, and ensure that the relevant risk management and internal control systems are operated properly and 
effectively. The means of communication with the stakeholders and the management response to the 
stakeholders’ expectations and concerns are as follows:

Stakeholders Expectation and concern Communication channels Management’s response

Government/regulatory 
 organisations

➢ Compliance with laws 
and regulations

➢ Regular reports/
 announcements

➢ Uphold integrity and compliance 
obligation in operations

➢ Fulfillment of tax 
obligation

➢ Correspondence ➢ Pay tax on time

➢ Green operation ➢ Handling public affairs through 
g o v e r n m e n t  w e b s i t e s  o r 
applications

➢ Establish a comprehensive and 
effective internal control system

➢ Act together against 
coronavirus disease 
(“COVID-19”)

➢ Comply with the government’s 
COVID-19 measures and guidelines 
to curb the spread of COVID-19



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 21

Stakeholders Expectation and concern Communication channels Management’s response

Shareholders/investors ➢ Investment returns ➢ Information disclosed on the 
websites of the Company and 
Stock Exchange

➢ Management possesses relevant 
exper ience and profess iona l 
knowledge to ensure business 
sustainability

➢ Information 
transparency

➢ General meetings and other 
shareholder meetings

➢ Ensure transparency and effective 
communications through regular 
publication of information on the 
websites of the Stock Exchange 
and the Company

➢ Corporate governance 
system

➢ Strive to improve internal control 
and risk management

➢ Operational risk 
management

➢ Adopt effective prevention and 
control measures

Employees ➢ Labour rights ➢ Induction and on-the-job training ➢ Set up contractual obligations to 
protect labour rights

➢ Career development ➢ Internal meetings and notices ➢ Encourage employees to participate 
in  cont inuous educat ion and 
professional trainings to enhance 
their capabilities

➢ Compensation and 
welfare

➢ Contact via email, telephone 
and communication application

➢ Establish a fair, reasonable and 
competitive remuneration scheme

➢ Occupational health 
and safety

➢ Focus on occupational health and 
safety

➢ Act together against 
COVID-19

➢ Provide prevention supplies for 
COVID-19 and arrange shift duties 
reasonably

Customers ➢ High quality services ➢ Contact via email and telephone ➢ Continuously provide high quality 
services for customers’ satisfaction

➢ Reasonable price ➢ Ensu re  p rope r  d i s c h a rg e  o f 
contractual obligations

➢ Act together against 
COVID-19

➢ Adopt effective prevention and 
control measures
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Stakeholders Expectation and concern Communication channels Management’s response

Suppliers ➢ Stable demand ➢ Contact via email and telephone ➢ Ensu re  p rope r  d i s c h a rg e  o f 
contractual obligations

➢ Good relationship 
with the Company

➢ Establish policies and procedures 
in supply chain management

➢ Corporate reputation ➢ Maintain sound and long-term 
cooperation relationship

➢ Select suppliers with due care

Communities ➢ Environmental 
protection

➢ Information disclosed on the 
websites of the Company and 
Stock Exchange

➢ Be concerned about  c l imate 
change

➢ Effective use of 
resources

➢ Enhance management on energy 
conserva t ion  and  emiss ions 
reduction

➢ Reduction of 
greenhouse gas 
emissions

➢ E d u c a t e  o u r  e m p l o y e e s  o n 
environmental protection

➢ Community 
participation

➢ Encourage employees to actively 
participate in charitable activities 
and voluntary services

➢ Economic 
development and 
community 
employment

➢ Ensure good financial performance 
and business growth

➢ Act together against 
COVID-19

➢ Comply with the government’s 
COVID-19 measures and guidelines 
to curb the spread of COVID-19
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III. MATERIALITY MATRIX

During the reporting period, the Group has identified a number of environmental, social and operating-related 
issues, and assessed their importance to stakeholders and the Group through various channels. These 
assessments help the Group to ensure that its business development is in line with the stakeholders’ expectations 
and requirements. The Group’s and stakeholders’ matters of concern are set out in the following materiality matrix.

Importance to 
Stakeholders

Materiality Matrix

High

◆ Anti-discrimination
◆ Protection of human 
  rights

◆ Talent management
◆ Staff training and promotion
◆ Staff compensation and 
  welfare

➢ Customers’ satisfaction
➢ Anti-epidemic
➢ Service quality
➢ Anti-corruption
◆ Anti-epidemic
✧ Anti-epidemic

Medium

➢ Community participation ✧ Greenhouse gas emissions
✧ Use of energy
◆ Occupational health and 
  safety

➢ Operational compliance
➢ Protection of customers’ 
  privacy
➢ Management of suppliers

Low

◆ Preventive measures for 
  child and forced labour
✧ Exhaust gas emission
✧ Sewage discharge
✧ Discharge of 
  non-hazardous wastes

✧ Water resources utilisation

Low Medium High

Importance to the Group

✧ Environment ◆ Employee ➢ Operation
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IV. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group’s Shentong Card has the functions of online payment and intelligent management platform, which 
provides an important platform for the promotion of paperless lifestyle in the PRC and alleviates the increasingly 
serious environmental pollution and natural resources shortage. In addition, the Group strictly follows the 
environmental policy in energy saving and carbon reduction, and compliance with laws and regulations in response 
to the global environmental protection trends and to fulfill its social responsibilities. The Group promotes energy 
conservation, reduce emission of pollutants and mitigate environmental risks through various measures and 
actions (Please refer to the “Emissions Management” and “Resources Utilisation Management” sections below 
for details), including compliance of the applicable laws and regulations, ensuring efficient use of energy, water 
and other resources during operations, adopting various measures to raise staff awareness in environmental 
protection, and management monitoring of the implementation of environmental policies. We are working in a way 
to enable all levels of our employees to realize their impact on the environment, and to strike a balance between 
simultaneous development of stable business growth and implementation of environmental protection measures, 
so as to reduce the adverse effects on the environment brought by the enterprise’s business activities and the 
employees’ personal life.

1. Emissions Management
The Group engages in provision of finance lease and loan services. It mainly operates these businesses in 
office setting and did not involve in any production activities. Therefore, no packaging materials is used nor 
any hazardous waste is produced. Our impact on the environment mainly comes from the use of energy, 
generation of office and domestic wastes, and discharge of domestic wastewater. We also understand that 
energy consumption and exhaust gas and greenhouse gas emission are closely related and thus we 
undertake various energy saving measures to reduce energy consumption and to enhance energy efficiency. 
Waste management mainly involves domestic garbage and collection of waste paper for recycling. Please 
refer to the “Resources Utilisation Management” section below for details.

Compliance
During the reporting period, the Group did not involve in any confirmed violations that are related to 
emissions that have a significant impact on the Group.

2. Resources Utilisation Management
In view of intensifying climate change, environmental protection and energy conversation is gaining more 
attention in the market. Therefore, the Group takes into consideration environmental factors when 
formulating sustainable development strategies, and actively responds to the government’s stricter 
requirements on environmental protection related policies, and carefully manages the use of resources to 
ensure efficient and prudent usage of all the resources and continuously pays attention to, identifies and 
reduces negative impacts on the environment caused by its business operations. The Group hopes that 
every employee can cooperate with the measures set by the Group to not only save resources, but also 
make full use of resources, maximize their efficiency and eliminate waste.



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 25

Energy Conservation
The Group is committed to the establishment of an operation environment with “low carbon and low 
consumption” and formulating relevant energy conservation and emissions reduction plans and measures 
regarding the use of various resources.

Saving electricity
The Group formulates a series of measures to save electricity and improve the power efficiency of electrical 
appliances and educate employees on how to use energy to maintain the balance of the global ecosystem, 
and raise their awareness of conservation so that they can build good habit in use of electricity. For example, 
we use energy-efficient equipment and strictly control the temperature and duration of use of air-
conditioners; air conditioners should be used within a restricted period of time determined according to 
seasonal and temperature changes and should be turned off after work; doors and windows must remain 
closed when air conditioners are turned on in order to minimise energy consumption. Electrical equipment, 
including lighting, air-conditioners, computers, personal electronic devices and common office equipment, 
etc. are turned on according to actual need during office hours, and staff are encouraged to switch off the 
equipment when it is not in use and also after work. Employees have to strictly follow the manual to operate 
electrical equipment properly in order to keep them in good condition and to use electricity effectively. We 
also pay attention to the maintenance of electrical equipment. Employees must report to the responsible 
department immediately for repair to avoid any electricity wastage in case of any abnormality found. During 
the Reporting Period, the Group consumed a total of approximately 29.94 MWh of electricity, representing a 
decrease of approximately 76.26 MWh or 71.81% as compared with the previous year. This was due to the 
impact of the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020, during which the companies in Mainland China 
implemented work suspension and staggered working hours measures, which reduced the number of 
employees to work and thus reduced the use of electrical equipment. In addition, the company in Beijing was 
relocated to a new office at the beginning of the year and the landlord did not provide electricity to the 
company in Beijing, therefore the relevant electricity consumption was not disclosed in this report.

Conservation of Gasoline
Employees have to plan their routes in advance before departure to shorten the driving distance and to 
reduce the consumption of gasoline. We carry out regular repairs and maintenance on vehicles for better 
energy use efficiency, and to reduce fuel consumption and waste gas emissions due to part failure. We also 
encourage our employees to use public transportation as much as possible to reduce the use of vehicles, 
thereby reducing air and greenhouse gas emissions. Due to the impact of the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 
2020, some vehicles of mainland companies were not in use. Coupled with the disposal of one of the 
vehicles by the company in Beijing, the fuel consumption of the Group during the reporting period decreased 
by approximately 12,155.14 litres or 76.96% as compared with the previous year, and the total gasoline 
consumption was approximately 3,639.25 litres.
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Water Conservation
The Group’s water consumption is mainly from drinking water in barrels and toilet water. Drinking water in 
barrels is purchased; and toilet water is provided and managed by the property management company. 
During the reporting period, although we did not encounter any problems in obtaining applicable water 
sources, we still bear the responsibility of environmental protection and sustainable development, try our 
best to enhance utilisation rate of water resources and reduce the pressure on the environment. We begin 
with educating employees on daily water consumption habits. We focus on improving employees’ awareness 
on water consumption and reducing waste, such as reminding them to cherish drinking water and not to use 
it for other purposes; controlling water flow when washing hands, controlling water flow from tap at low 
level and shutting down after use. During the reporting period, the Group’s total water consumption was 
178.85 tonnes, representing a decrease of approximately 1,535.02 tonnes or 89.56% from last year.

Paper Conservation
The Group will revisit and identify the sources of wastes produced in operations, to evaluate the impacts on 
the environment for use of resources, so as to establish and implement effective measures including 
promotion of energy conservation and emission reduction, extensive use of energy-saving products, and the 
best use of office resources to minimize our carbon footprint. We constantly enhance our employees’ 
awareness in environmental protection and resource conservation, and to fulfill our social responsibilities and 
obligations in the process of conducting and developing our business, so as to achieve coordinated 
development of the Group, the society and also the environment together. The Group also supports printing 
annual reports with environmentally-friendly papers to reduce cutting down trees, deforestation and 
environmental impacts. During the reporting period, total paper consumption of the Group’s business was 
approximately 0.28 tonnes, representing an increase of approximately 0.02 tonnes or 7.69% from last year.

3. Environment and Natural Resources
The Group is committed to caring for and preserving the natural environment, hoping that each individual can 
jointly build a better and more livable environment. In order for all levels of the Group to better understand 
the importance of impact on the environment, we continue to reduce carbon footprints through various 
policies, measures and actions (please refer to the sections headed “Emissions Management” and 
“Resources Utilisation Management” above for details). 

The Group will re-examine and identify the sources of waste generated from our operations, assess the 
impact of resource utilization on the environment, formulate and implement different emission reduction and 
energy conservation programs, widely use energy-saving products and effective measures to fully utilize 
office resources to reduce our carbon footprint. We continue to raise employees’ awareness of 
environmental protection and resource conservation, fulfill social responsibilities and obligations in the 
development of business, and realize the coordinated development of the Group, the society and the 
environment.
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V. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Employees are the most valuable assets of the Group and key driver for the Group’s sustainable and long-term 
business development. We are committed to create a discrimination-free, equal, harmonious and safe workplace; 
to build relationships with mutual-respect; to encourage our employees to be innovative, flexible and committed 
when dealing with our customers and to provide high quality services. We also offer promotion opportunities to 
attract, develop, retain and reward our talented staff and provide commensurate remuneration and benefits.

1. Talent Selection
The Group employs staff in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations of each business location, 
including the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labor Contract Law of the People’s 
Republic of China”, the “Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Hong Kong 
Employment Ordinance”, or other applicable laws and regulations, etc. and adopts a fair employment policy. 
These laws specify requirements concerning employee compensation and dismissal, recruitment, vacations, 
diversity, anti-discrimination, and welfare and other benefits. The Group recruits staff and fully protects the 
legal rights of its employees in accordance with national laws and regulations and combining the industrial 
characteristics and actual situations. The appropriate candidates would be selected based on their 
experiences, knowledge and abilities, and other job requirements, and regardless of their race, gender, age, 
region, or religion. This employment policy applies throughout all phases of the employment, including but 
not limited to hiring, promotion, performance appraisal, training, personal development and termination. On 
the basis of equality, the Group hopes to identify talents who are committed and dedicated to work, willing 
to take responsibility, keep learning, continuously improve their abilities and willing to move forward with the 
Group. On the other hand, the Group provides equal opportunities to employees in providing benefits, 
promotion, performance appraisal, training and career development and works closely with its employees 
with an aim to achieve win-win situation.

2. Labour Standards
The Group complies with the requirements of the Labour Law of the PRC, Hong Kong or HK Employment 
Ordinance and other applicable laws and regulations. The Group values human rights and protects labour 
rights and strictly prohibits child and forced labour in accordance with relevant labour laws and regulations. 
The Group checks the identity documents of the applicants during the recruitment process to prevent 
recruiting child labour. In addition, the Group also strictly implements various measures to prevent any form 
of forced labour, such as signing labour contracts with employees on an equal and voluntary basis; ensure 
that employees do not bear any employment costs when they join the Group; employees’ wages, benefits or 
property shall not be withheld without any reason; no identity card or other identification document will be 
withheld; no violence, threats or illegal restriction of personal freedom is allowed to force employees to work. 
In order to avoid non-voluntary overtime work, employees’ consent must be obtained for any overtime 
arrangement and employees are compensated in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. During 
the reporting period, the Group did not violate any laws and regulations related to child and forced labour.
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3. Compensation and Welfare
The Group regularly assesses remuneration levels for its employees at each level and collects remuneration 
data in the external industry labour market to strive for the establishment of a fair, reasonable and 
competitive remuneration scheme. Employee remuneration is determined in accordance with factors 
including knowledge, skills, job duty, experience and education level as required in each position. Employee 
compensation varies from offices in different regions.

In addition, the Group provides social insurance benefits for all of its employees in accordance with the local 
labour laws as well as the laws and regulations in relation to social security. The Group pays various social 
insurance premiums (including pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, work injury 
insurance and maternity insurance) and housing provident funds for its employees who engage in businesses 
in the mainland China, and contributes to the MPF scheme for its employees in Hong Kong. We will handle 
the dismissal of employees and compensate them in accordance with the local laws and regulations.

The Group pays close attention to the health of its employees, encourages them to maintain work-life 
balance,  and establishes their working hours and protects their rights of rest days and holidays in accordance 
with the local labour laws. All of its employees are entitled to rest days and statutory holidays, e.g. annual 
leave, sick leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, bereavement leave, injury leave, etc.

The Group does not reduce the compensation of, or lay off, its employees due to the serious situation of 
COVID-19. For the sake of the health and life safety of its employees, the Group has adopted a number of 
epidemic prevention measures to reduce the chance of infection. Please refer to the “Health and Safety” 
below for details.

4. Development and Training
An excellent corporate team is critical to the Group’s sustainable and long-term business development. 
Therefore, we encourage staff to continue study and lifelong learning. This not only enhances the quality and 
capability of employees, but also raises the cohesiveness among them, resulting in increased productivity. 
We provide on-the-job training and mentorship for new hires to help them adapting to the new work 
environment quickly, and enhance team cohesion. Training topics for new hires include corporate culture, 
business philosophy, development history, management practices, business scope, employee rights and 
obligations, human resources plan, etc.. During the reporting period, the Group also provides external online 
training for employees, including areas in business, human resources, taxation, staff development, 
occupational health and safety, etc. For example, improving your travel plan through data analysis, global 
human capital trend in 2020: social enterprises at work, indirect tax development of electronic service 
provision in the Asia-Pacific region, ERP: using S/4 HANA to re-conceptualize tax process, occupational skill 
improvement management course, office safety precautions, hygiene and epidemic prevention requirements, 
and the path of healthy development in the network era.
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5. Health and Safety
The Group always puts the health of its employees and safe working environment as priority. Hence, the 
Group has formulated the “Administrative Measures on Office Safety” and has taken comprehensive 
prevention measures in aspects such as life safety, driving safety, fire protection, environmental sanitation 
and electricity use to prevent the illness and injuries of its employees. To thoroughly implement the national 
occupational safety standards, laws and regulations as well as relevant requirements, the Group conducts 
safety publicity and education for its employees, improves its office conditions and strengthens its safety 
management. Smoking in the office areas and training venue is absolutely prohibited. Each employee should 
be familiar with the location and the use method of fire extinguisher. We also have clear evacuation 
procedures in case of fire outbreak in offices to ensure our employees are able to take sensible and 
immediate action. In addition, the Group not only has strict requirements on the environment of its robot 
sports training centre and provides safe training venues for its trainees, but it also offers safety training for its 
instructors to ensure the health and safety of both instructors and trainees.

With the outbreak of COVID-19, in addition to complying with the government’s COVID-19 measures and 
guidelines, we have also taken a number of precautionary measures to reduce the chance of employees 
being infected or spreading the disease and to curb the spread of COVID-19. The contents of these 
preventive measures are as follows:

•	 launched	the	COVID-19	epidemic	emergency	plan	and	set	up	an	epidemic	emergency	prevention	and	
control team, and formulated daily management requirements for health and epidemic prevention to 
cope with the situation that may cause the spread of the epidemic in the office;

•	 classified	the	epidemic	as	no	cases,	suspected	cases	and	confirmed	cases,	and	formulated	appropriate	
prevention and control measures according to the classification of the epidemic;

•	 ensure	sufficient	 reserves	of	body	temperature	measurement,	hand	sanitizer,	 face	mask	and	other	
epidemic prevention materials;

•	 strictly	controlled	personnel	entering	and	leaving	the	Company.	All	employees	and	visitors	must	wear	
masks, measure body temperature, declare personal health conditions, and confirm that no suspected 
infection symptoms before entering into the production site;

•	 carried	out	comprehensive	disinfection	of	office	area	and	public	area;

•	 employees	were	required	to	bring	their	own	 lunch	boxes,	take	meals	separately	at	 their	 respective	
working locations and maintain appropriate distance. Employees were required to wash their hands 
before meals, wear masks immediately after meals, and prohibit employees from speaking when meals 
are served;

•	 Temporarily	suspension	of	physical	training	courses;	and

•	 provided	anti-epidemic	training	for	employees,	required	employees	to	make	washing	and	health	habit	
and maintain appropriate social distance, and reminded employees of the precautions for COVID-19 
during festivals such as National Day.

Compliance
During the reporting period, the Group did not involve in any confirmed non-compliance incidents relating to 
employment, health and safety, and labour standards that have had a significant impact on the Group.
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VI. OPERATING PRACTICES

1. Supply Chain Management
The Group has told its suppliers and business partners about the measures we have taken on environmental 
protection and its expectations, hoping that everyone can cooperate with the Group in fulfilling its social 
responsibilities to the society. We wish to establish a long-term and stable cooperative partnership with 
competent suppliers and develop businesses together with them on an equal and win-win basis. In order to 
build an efficient green supply chain with each other, we have maintained a long-term strategic and 
cooperative partnership with certain groups that have a reputable credit history, favorable goodwill, high 
product and service quality, excellent environmental compliance records and commitment to social 
responsibilities.

2. Product and Service Responsibility
The CRC business of the Group holds national robot sports events and related training courses in 
Heilongjiang Province. Despite the impact of COVID-19, we temporarily suspended some robotics sports 
events and related physical training courses during the year, but we still maintain strict requirements on the 
professional skills and ethics of the tutors and the environment of the training centre, hoping that we can 
continue to provide safe training fields and high-quality technical training for the trainees when they return to 
sports events in the future. In addition to requiring the tutors to possess relevant training and education 
qualification certificates, the Group also continuously updates the tutors’ technological knowledge and 
professional skills to maintain a high level of service quality.

Shentong Card is developed by the Group’s substantial shareholder and the Group is responsible for its 
promotion and management. It is monitored by a professional technical team to ensure the quality of 
Shentong Card. The professional technical team also receives continuous training to meet the increasing 
technological level and customers’ needs. Since the Group attaches great importance to the opinions and 
complaints of its customers, there is an after-sales service mechanism in place, under which a rigorous 
customer complaint and handling process is established to ensure that the quality and technical problems of 
Shentong Card can be processed for the customers and give them support quickly. The Group also hopes to 
use this mechanism to analyse the causes of customer complaints and propose feasible corrective and 
preventive measures.

Confidentiality is one of the Group’s core values. As the Shentong Card system stores a lot of customer 
personal data, in order to comply with the related requirements of the Regulation on Telecommunications of 
the People’s Republic of China, the Telecommunication Services Rules and the Confidentiality Law of the 
People’s Republic of China and to protect the basic rights and interests of its customers, the Group must 
carefully maintain the safety of its customer data and enhance the confidentiality of their personal privacy to 
prevent any leakage of their personal data. No employee shall disclose customer personal data to any third 
party without customers’ consent and punishment by the Company will be required for any violation. In 
addition, the Group has formulated an information security management system and set up firewalls for an 
information system to ensure the safety of its customer data.

The Group respects intellectual property rights. Employees are not allowed to possess or use copyrighted 
material without the permission of the copyright owners.

During the reporting period, the Group did not involve in any confirmed violations of laws and regulations 
related to product and service responsibility that have a significant impact on the Group, nor did it receive any 
complaints about breaches of customer privacy, loss of customer data and intellectual property rights.
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3. Anti-corruption
The Group firmly believes that fairness, honesty and integrity are the important core values of its long-term 
development and adopts a zero-tolerance approach for all kinds of corruption, bribery, extortion situation. To 
comply with the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” 
enforced by the Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption and other applicable laws and 
regulations and to protect the interests of stakeholders, the Group formulated employee the “Employee 
Daily Behaviour Standards”, the “Employee Professional Code of Ethics” and the “Anti-Corruption 
Management System” to strictly regulate the behavior of employees. The Group has set out strict penalties 
to combat inappropriate collection and acceptance of bribes, commissions or other illegal interests (such as 
property, banquet activities, etc.). The Group requires all personnel to abide by rules and regulations and does 
not tolerate any bribery act at all. For employees who violate the company’s rules, we will directly dismiss 
the employee as punishment or refer to law enforcement agencies for handling according to the seriousness 
of the incident. These measures prove the Group’s determination to fight corruption and uphold integrity, 
hoping to combat corruption and contribute to building a clean society. During the reporting period, there is 
no litigation of corruption involving the Group or its employees.

VII. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

To align with national education development policies, the Group is committed to providing various robotics 
education courses to promote the development of robotics education business more effectively. We organise 
various robotics trainings, seminars and experiential courses. Various training courses and competitions allow 
participants to gain and master new technological knowledge within a diverse learning structure and encourage 
them to unleash their unlimited creativity and enhance their imagination.

The Group has always been concerned about environment and climate change of China. The intensifying global 
warming phenomenon brings a certain level of risks to the operation of the Group. The Shentong Card that we 
promote not only applies to terminals of various networks (including the internet, telecommunications networks, 
television networks and financial networks), but is also the integrated education billing smart card in China used for 
the right of hosting CRC competitions and payment and smart management of relevant CRC training. We hope to 
establish an environmentally-friendly platform for paperless lifestyle by promoting the Shentong Card business to 
reduce paper use and energy consumption, reduce deforestation and alleviate the greenhouse effect and the 
global warming.

The Group is a responsible enterprise and taxpayer, and spares no effort in easing local employment pressure. We 
assist our employees in planning their retirement life and provide social insurance benefits for all employees. We 
have maintained good operation environment, actively promoted the environmental protection and achieved good 
development order, and to a certain extent, we have contributed to maintaining social stability and building a 
harmonious community.
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VIII. FUTURE VISION

As a good corporate citizen, the Group hopes to maintain a balance between achieving the corporate business 
objectives and business goals, and to fulfill its social responsibility. The Group will continue to pay attention to the 
performance of environmental protection, employee care, product and service quality and community contribution, 
so as to create new advantages for sustainable development.

The Group will endeavour to comply with the increasingly stringent environmental protection laws and regulations, 
and actively promote the idea of energy conservation and emission reduction with an aim at striking a balance 
between efficient operation and environmental protection. In order to provide safe working environment, we will 
also put employees’ satisfaction and work safety as our top priority. We always review personnel management 
mechanism of the Group. Through ensuring a competitive remuneration system, we aim to attract more 
outstanding talents in the technical and management arenas. For customer service, the Group collects customer 
opinions and feedbacks from various aspects and will continue to put resources to enhance service quality of its 
employees and provide higher level of customer service. Meanwhile, the Group will stick to its original intention of 
fulfilling its social responsibility by participating in charitable activities and promoting the community’s sustainable 
development.

The Group aims at becoming a respectable enterprise. We work together with our employees to achieve mutual 
benefits and strive to create value for our customers with quality services and products. Meanwhile, the Group 
hopes to improve business performance and create more meaningful and long-term value for the company and our 
stakeholders through implementing sustainability strategies and fostering corporate culture proactively.
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IX. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY

Unit 2020/21 2019/20
    

Greenhouse gas emissions
Scope 11:
 Total Tonnes 9.82 47.86
 Intensity3 Tonnes 0.19 0.68
Scope 22: 
 Total Tonnes 27.21 107.19
 Intensity3 Tonnes 0.53 1.26

Total air emissions
 Nitrogen oxides Kilograms 31.25 90.07
 Sulfur oxides Kilograms 0.05 0.23
 Particles Kilograms 2.13 6.76

Energy and water consumption
Electricity:
 Total Megawatt hours 29.94 106.20
 Intensity3 Megawatt hours 0.59 1.52
Natural gas:
 Total Cubic metres – 2,519.00
 Intensity3 Cubic metres – 35.94
Gasoline:
 Total Thousand litres 3.64 15.97
 Intensity3 Thousand litres 0.07 0.23
Water:
 Total Tonnes 178.85 1,713.87
 Intensity3 Tonnes 3.51 24.45

Notes:

1 Scope 1 refers to greenhouse gas emissions directly generated by the Group’s business, including combustion of gasoline 
and natural gas.

2 Scope 2 refers to greenhouse gas emissions from “indirect energy” caused by the internal consumption of purchased 
electricity by the Group’s business.

3 Intensity is based on each employee.
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X. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE BY THE STOCK EXCHANGE 
OF HONG KONG LIMITED

General Disclosure/
Key Performance 
Indicators (“KPIs”) Reporting Guideline Page

A. Environmental

Aspect A1 Emissions

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer 
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and 
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

24

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 24, 33

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

33

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

N/A1

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

N/A1

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. 24

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 
reduction initiatives and results achieved.

24

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and 
other raw materials.

24–26

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or 
oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 
volume, per facility).

25, 33

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 
volume, per facility).

26, 33

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. 25

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 
purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

26

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if 
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

N/A1

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment 
and natural resources.

26

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

26
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General Disclosure/
Key Performance 
Indicators (“KPIs”) Reporting Guideline Page

B. Social1

Aspect B1 Employment

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, 
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

27–28

Aspect B2 Health and Safety

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting 
employees from occupational hazards.

29

Aspect B3 Development and Training

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 
duties at work. Description of training activities.

28

Aspect B4 Labour Standards

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

27

Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 30

Aspect B6 Product Responsibility

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters 
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

30
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General Disclosure/
Key Performance 
Indicators (“KPIs”) Reporting Guideline Page

Aspect B7 Anti-corruption

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

31

Aspect B8 Community Investment

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take 
into consideration the communities’ interests.

31

Notes:

1 The Group’s main business is promotion, sales and management of Shentong Card, and provision of robotics training 
course. We did not generate any hazardous wastes and use any packaging materials.

2 Pursuant to Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, the KPIs under “Area B. Social” are recommended disclosures only. 
Therefore, the Group chose not to disclose those KPIs.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group 
and the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

Details of the principal activities of the subsidiary companies are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the business review required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance including an 
analysis on financial key performance indication of likely future development in the Group business, employment policy 
and subsequent events can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set 
out on pages 4 to 8 of the annual report. Those discussion forms part of this “Directors’ Report”.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in note 6 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

As a responsible corporation, the Company is committed to protecting the environment in the areas where we operate. 
To ensure our business development and sustainability, the Company endeavors to comply with the laws and 
regulations regarding environmental protection and to adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, 
energy saving and waste reduction. Details of the Group’s environmental policies & performance are set out in the 
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 20 to 36 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company is incorporated in Cayman Islands with its shares listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited. The Group’s subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group’s 
operations are mainly carried out by the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Group also has a corporate and 
administrative office in Hong Kong.

The Group’s establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in Cayman 
Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year under review, the Group complied with all 
the relevant laws and regulations in Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong that have a 
significant impact on the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contributions to results by principal activities for the year is set out in note 10 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on 
page 55 of this report.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company at 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of 
financial position and statement of financial position on pages 57 to 58 of this report and note 33(a) to the consolidated 
financial statements respectively.



SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED38

Directors’ Report

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated 
statements of changes in equity on page 59 and note 33(b) to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 19 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 32 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company does not have excess reserves available for distribution.

DONATIONS

No donations were made to charities by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all employees. With effect 
from 1 December 2000, the Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all employees in 
Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory 
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in 
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each 
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules of the scheme. The employees of the 
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated 
by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the 
retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is to make the required 
contributions under the schemes.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights either under the Articles, or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders by reason of their holding of the 
Company’s shares.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial 
years is set out on page 3.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary companies had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
shares on the GEM during the year ended 31 March 2021.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to an ordinary resolution 
passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 August 2013. Summary of the 2013 Share Option 
Scheme is as follows:

(a) Purpose and Participants of the 2013 Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to (i) any employees 
(including, without limitation, executive Directors) of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) any non-
executive Directors (including, without limitation, independent non-executive Directors) of the Company and/or any 
of its subsidiaries; (iii) any consultants, suppliers or customers of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries; (iv) 
any employee (whether full-time or part-time and including Directors) of any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which 
the Group holds any equity interest; and/or (v) any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed 
or may contribute to the Group eligible for share options under the 2013 Share Option Scheme (the “Eligible 
Participants”) as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Company and/or its Subsidiaries.

(b) Maximum number of shares available for issue
The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon the exercise of all options which initially 
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2013 Share Option 
Scheme. Thereafter, if refreshed, the maximum number shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date 
of approval of the refreshed limit by the shareholders.

The limit of the 2013 Share Option Scheme can be issued under the 2013 Share Option Scheme was 129,469,701 
which is equivalent to 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the annual general 
meeting of the Company held on 7 August 2013.
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Subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”) in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the GEM Listing Rules from 
time to time, the Board may:

(i) refresh this limit at any time to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of the approval by 
the Shareholders in general meeting (options previously granted under any share option schemes of the 
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with such schemes or exercised 
options) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as refreshed).

(ii) grant options beyond the 10% limit to Eligible Participants specifically identified by the Board whereupon the 
Company shall send a circular to the Shareholders containing a generic description of the specified 
participants who may be granted such options, the number and terms of the options to be granted and the 
purpose of granting options to the specified participants with an explanation as to how the options serve 
such purpose.

(iii) notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all 
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2013 Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in 
issue from time to time. No options shall be granted under any schemes of the Company or any of its 
subsidiary companies if this will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, nil option share was outstanding under the 2013 
Share Option Scheme.

(c) Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant
The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Eligible 
Participant or Grantee (including exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to the date of grant 
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Where it is proposed that any offer is to be made to an Eligible 
Participant (or where approximate, an existing Grantee) which would result in the shares issued and to be issued 
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such person (including exercised, cancelled and 
outstanding options) in the 12-month period up to and including the relevant date of grant to exceed such limit, 
such offer and any acceptance thereof must be conditional upon Shareholders’ approval in general meeting with 
such Eligible Participant (or where appropriate, an existing Grantee) and his, her or its associates abstaining from 
voting.

The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders disclosing the identity of the Eligible Participant or Grantee, 
the number and terms of options to be granted (and options previously granted) to such Eligible Participant, the 
information required under the GEM Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription price) of 
options to be granted to such Eligible Participant must be fixed before the date on which Shareholders’ approval is 
sought and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken as the date of grant for 
the purpose of calculating the subscription price.
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(d) Price of shares
The subscription price for a share of the Company in respect of any particular option granted under the 2013 Share 
Option Scheme (which shall be payable upon exercise of the option) shall be such price as the Board in its absolute 
discretion shall determine, save that such price will not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the 
shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must 
be a business day (and for this purpose shall be taken to be the date of the Board meeting at which the Board 
proposes to grant the options); (b) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value 
of a share.

(e) Granting options to connected persons
Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) 
of the Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) must be approved by 
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding the independent non-executive Director who is the proposed 
grantee of the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company or 
an independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) 
would result in the shares issued or to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted or to be granted 
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including 
the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of shares of the Company in issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet 
issued by the Stock Exchange at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of 
options must be approved by Shareholders of the Company.

The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders disclosing (i) details of the number and terms of the options 
to be granted; (ii) a recommendation from the independent non-executive Directors (excluding an independent non-
executive Director who is the proposed grantee of the options) on whether or not to vote in favour of the proposed 
grant; (iii) the information relating to any Directors who are trustees of the scheme or have a direct or indirect 
interest in the trustees; and (iv) the information required under the GEM Listing Rules. Any change in the terms of 
options granted to a connected person or its associates must be approved by Shareholders in a general meeting.

(f) Time of exercise of option
There is no general requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised 
but the Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any 
particular option. The date of grant of any particular option is the date when the duplicate offer document 
constituting acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the 
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration is received by the Company, such date must be on or before the 
30th day after the option is offered to the relevant grantee. The period during which an option may be exercised 
will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10 
years after it has been granted. No option may be granted more than 10 years after the date of approval of the 
2013 Share Option Scheme. Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting or by the Board, the 
2013 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years after the date of adoption of the 
2013 Share Option Scheme by Shareholders by resolution at the general meeting.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. He Chenguang
Mr. Bao Yueqing

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yip Tai Him
Ms. Han Liqun
Ms. Zhang Li

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of the Company, one-third (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of 
three, than the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office 
by rotation at the annual general meeting of the Company but shall then be eligible for re-election provided that every 
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with Article 96 of the 
Articles, any Director appointed either to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the 
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election, but shall not be taken 
into account in determining the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Bao 
Yueqing and Mr. Yip Tai Him shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received written confirmations from each of the independent non-executive Directors for their annual 
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has assessed their 
independence and concluded that all independent non-executive Directors are considered to be independent within the 
definition of the GEM Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There is no matter that need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A (1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company. The employment of each 
executive Directors under their respective service contract shall be continuous subject to termination by either party to 
the contract serving written notice to the other to terminate such employment to take effect three months from the date 
of service of such notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting 
has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiary companies which is not determinable by the Group 
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the directors’ emoluments and those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 
March 2021 are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the annual independence confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors 
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive directors 
to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a significant beneficial interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any contracts of significance to the 
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiary companies were a party at the end of the year 
ended 31 March 2021 or any time during the year ended 31 March 2021.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on pages 9 to 11.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the 
shares and underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning 
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) which (a) were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part 
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions 
of the SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred therein; or (c) 
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM 
Listing Rules were as follows:

Number of shares held
 

Name of Director
Personal
interests

Corporate
interests Total

Approximate
percentage of

issued
share capital

     

Bao Yueqing 2,844,000 – 2,844,000 0.15%
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executives has any interests or short positions in the shares 
and underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of 
the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of 
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to 
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the 
register referred therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the 
rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as at 31 March 2021.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as is known to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by, the Directors, the 
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) had an interest or short position in the 
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of 
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and Section 336 of the SFO or, who were or were expected, directly or indirectly, 
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at 
general meetings of any member of the Group:

Number of shares held
 

Name of shareholder
Personal
interests

Corporate
interests

Other
interests Total

Approximate
percentage of

issued
share capital

      

神州通信集團有限公司 
 (China Communication Group 
 Co., Ltd#) (“CCC”) (Note 1) – 472,042,000 – 472,042,000 24.90%
China Communication 
 Investment Limited (“CCI”) 472,042,000 – – 472,042,000 24.90%
Yang Shao Hui 191,041,256 – – 191,041,256 10.08%
Cao Bingsheng 120,000,000 – – 120,000,000 6.33%
Liang Haiqi 120,000,000 – – 120,000,000 6.33%
Li Chungang (Note 2) – 109,900,000 – 109,900,000 5.80%
Friendly Capital Limited 109,900,000 – – 109,900,000 5.80%

Notes:

(1) CCC is deemed to be substantial shareholder as defined in the GEM Listing Rules. CCI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCC.

(2) Friendly Capital Limited is wholly-owned by Li Chungang and is therefore deemed to be interested in 109,900,000 shares held by 
Friendly Capital Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, so far as is known to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by 
the Directors, no other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) had an interest or short 
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which requires to be disclosed to the Company under the 
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and Section 336 of the SFO or, who were or were expected, 
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in 
all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.

# English name is for identification purpose only
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the Directors and other officers, for the time being acting in 
relation to the affairs of the Company, shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or 
liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director or other officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, 
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers 
of the Group to protect the Directors and officers of the Group against any potential liability arising from the Group’s 
activities which such Directors and officers may be held liable.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No substantial contracts concerning the management and administration of the Company were entered into or existed 
during the reporting year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as 
follows:

2021
  

Purchases
— the largest supplier 45%
— five largest suppliers 50%

Sales
— the largest customer 11%
— five largest customers 11%

Save as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors, their associates or any 
shareholder of the Company (which to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s 
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

The Group understands that customers and suppliers are important to the sustainable and stable development of its 
business. The Group seeks to work with its suppliers in pursuit of continuous improvement in social and environmental 
performance. The Group is also committed to ensuring that environmental considerations are an integral part of its 
operation through cooperation with its suppliers to provide high-quality services to its customers. The Group conducts 
assessment process from time to time to evaluate the performance of its suppliers.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Relationship between the Group and each of the relevant connected persons
CCC is a company established under the laws of the PRC. By virtue of its interests as to approximately 24.90% of the 
issued share capital of the Company held by CCI, its wholly-owned subsidiary, which is holding 472,042,000 shares of 
the Company, CCC is considered to be a connected person to the Company.

神州通信黑龍江有限公司 (China Communication Heilongjiang Co., Ltd.#) (“China Communication Heilongjiang”) and 哈爾
濱神州通信技能培訓有限公司 (Harbin China Communication Skill Training Co., Ltd.#) (“Harbin China Communication Skill 
Training”), each a company established in the PRC with limited liability, are wholly-owned subsidiaries of CCC and 
therefore connected persons of the Company. 神州通信黑龍江有限公司賓縣分公司 (China Communication Heilongjiang 
Co., Ltd. Bin County Branch Company#) (“China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch”) and 神州通信黑龍江
有限公司牡丹江公司 (China Communication Heilongjiang Co., Ltd. Mudanjiang Company#) (“China Communication 
Heilongjiang Mudanjiang”), each a branch company of China Communication Heilongjiang.

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Group
Pursuant to Rule 20.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, details of the continuing connected transactions during the year ended 
31 March 2021 which the Company undertakes the transactions under the written agreements are set out as follows:

1. On 9 February 2018, CCC and 北京神通益家科技服務有限公司 (Beijing Shentong Yijia Technology Services 
Company Limited#) (“Yijia”) entered into the Yijia Customers Service Hotline Rental Contract, pursuant to which 
CCC shall provide a designated national customer service hotline number 95130*** to Yijia, in consideration of 
which CCC would charge Yijia (i) an annual fee of RMB20,000 which is on pro-rata and 12 month-year basis; (ii) a 
calling charge of RMB0.06 per 6 seconds for long distance incoming calls (subject to scaled-discount rates); and (iii) 
a calling charge of RMB0.15 per minute for outgoing calls via internet through the “VolP” (Voice-Over Internet 
Protocol) telephone system. The calling charge rate was subject to adjustment in accordance with any new 
charging standard to be announced by the PRC government from time to time;

2. On 9 February 2018, CCC and Yijia entered into the Yijia Server Hosting Agreement, pursuant to which (i) Yijia 
would place its servers in CCC’s server rooms and CCC would provide monitoring, management and technical 
support services to Yijia and (ii) CCC would provide designated 300M-bandwidth share of the broadband leased 
line to Yijia for the operation of its website and CCC will also provide 90 IP addresses and not more than 7 racks of 
servers for the use of Yijia and CCC will also supply 2200W (10A) electricity for each rack of servers rented to Yijia, 
in consideration of which CCC would charge Yijia a fee of RMB80,000 per month for each server used by Yijia for 
the provision of server hosting service and dedicated leased-lines;

3. On 9 February 2018, CCC and Yijia entered into the Shentong Card Management and Sales Contract, pursuant to 
which Yijia would provide to CCC services regarding (i) the management and sale of the Designated Shentong 
Cards; (ii) assisting CCC in the after-sale-services for the Designated Shentong Card; and (iii) following-up with the 
enquiries and/or complaints raised by the users of the Designated Shentong Card; and (iv) customer management 
service, and promotion and marketing of the Designated Shentong Card, in consideration of which Yijia would 
charge CCC (i) issuance handling fees of RMB5 for each Designated Shentong Card issued by Yijia; (ii) technical 
service commission of 20% of the total value of purchases made by the users through the Designated Shentong 
Card issued by Yijia; (iii) sale commission of RMB3 for the insurance products preloaded in the Designated 
Shentong Card issued by Yijia; and (iv) sale commission of 20% of the total value of purchases made by the users 
through the designated “Shentong Card” issued by Yijia for the property and life insurance products and 10% for 
the purchases of health insurance products;

# English name is for identification purpose only

# English name is for identification purpose only
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4. On 9 February 2018, CCC and Yijia entered into the Yijia Web Advertising Contract, pursuant to which Yijia agreed 
to place and CCC agreed to arrange for the web advertisements of Yijia to be published on the website of CCC 
“Shentong Net”, and 24-hour technical support services should also be provided by CCC to Yijia to handle all 
technical issues arising out of the publication of the advertisements. Details of the advertising arrangement and 
the payment methods should be determined based on mutual agreement of Yijia and CCC to be reached at least 
three days prior to the publication of the relevant advertisements;

5. On 9 February 2018, CCC and 黑龍江神通文化俱樂部有限公司 (Heilongjiang Shentong Cultural Club Company 
Limited#) (“Heilongjiang Shentong“) entered into the Heilongjiang Shentong Customer Service Hotline rental 
contract, pursuant to which CCC shall provide a designated national customer service hotline number 95130*** to 
Heilongjiang Shentong, in consideration of which CCC will charge Heilongjiang Shentong (i) an annual fee of 
RMB20,000 which is on a pro-rata on a 12-month year basis; (ii) a calling charge of RMB0.06 per 6 seconds for 
long distance incoming calls (subject to the scaled-discount rates); and (iii) a calling charge of RMB0.15 per minute 
for outgoing calls via internet through the “VoIP” (Voice-Over Internet Protocol) telephone system. The calling 
charges are subject to adjustment in accordance with any new charging standard to be announced by the PRC 
government from time to time;

6. On 9 February 2018, CCC and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the Heilongjiang Shentong Server Hosting 
Agreement, pursuant to which (i) CCC will provide server equipment to Heilongjiang Shentong, and Heilongjiang 
Shentong will place its servers in CCC’s server rooms and CCC will provide monitoring, management and technical 
support services to Heilongjiang Shentong and (ii) CCC will provide designated 300M bandwidth share of the 
broadband leased lines to Heilongjiang Shentong for the operation of its website. CCC will also provide 90 IP 
addresses and not more than 11 racks of servers for the use of Heilongjiang Shentong, in consideration of which 
CCC will charge Heilongjiang Shentong a fee of RMB80,000 per month for each server used by Heilongjiang 
Shentong for the provision of server hosting service and dedicated leased-lines;

7. On 9 February 2018, China Communication Heilongjiang and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the Heilongjiang 
Shentong Web Advertising Contract, pursuant to which Heilongjiang Shentong agreed to place and China 
Communication Heilongjiang agreed to arrange for the web advertisements of Heilongjiang Shentong be published 
on the internet. 24-hour technical support services shall also be provided by China Communication Heilongjiang to 
Heilongjiang Shentong to handle all technical issues arising out the publication of the advertisements. In 
consideration of which China Communication Heilongjiang will charge Heilongjiang Shentong a fee of RMB10,000–
18,800 per 3 or 4 hours with a discount of 35%;

8. On 9 February 2018, China Communication Heilongjiang Mudanjiang and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the 
Heilongjiang Operation and Management Contract, pursuant to which China Communication Heilongjiang 
Mudanjiang shall provide operation and management services to Heilongjiang Shentong in a training centre in 
Mudanjiang City in the Heilongjiang Province, the PRC. In consideration of which Heilongjiang Shentong shall pay a 
fee to China Communication Heilongjiang Mudanjiang which is calculated as 15% of its overall income which 
payment is made through and processed by the CRC Shentong Card integrated payment management system;
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9. On 9 February 2018, CCC and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the Heilongjiang Shentong CRC Shentong Card 
Payment System Contract, pursuant to which CCC shall provide Heilongjiang Shentong the right to use the CRC 
Shentong Card integrated payment management system to facilitate customer’s information maintenance, 
customer enquiry services and payment processing services, in consideration of which Heilongjiang Shentong shall 
be responsible for the payment of a fee which is 6% of its overall income (including income from education and 
competitions) which payment is made through and processed by the CRC Shentong Card integrated payment 
management system;

10. On 9 February 2018, Harbin China Communication Skill Training and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the Harbin 
China Communication Skill Training Venue Rental Agreement, pursuant to which provision of venue, cleaning 
services and electricity from Harbin China Communication Skill Training to Heilongjiang Shentong for holding 
conference, training and other activities, in consideration of which Harbin China Communication Skill Training 
charges Heilongjiang Shentong (i) accommodation charge at daily rate ranging from RMB318 to RMB1,888 with a 
discount of 20% to 50% according to different type of room and level of management authority respectively; (ii) 
conference room leasing fee ranging from RMB1,800 to RMB5,000 for every four hours with a discount of 20% to 
50% according to different level of management authority; (iii) food and beverage and supportive services will be 
charged on actual usage based on a pre-determined services fee; and

11. On 9 February 2018, China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch and Heilongjiang Shentong entered 
into the China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch Venue Rental Contract, pursuant to which provision 
of venue from China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch to Heilongjiang Shentong for holding of 
competition and training, including the electricity supplies to and cleaning of the venue, in consideration of which 
China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch charges Heilongjiang Shentong rental at a rate of 
RMB25,000 per hour.

The aforesaid agreements have been reviewed by independent non-executive Directors of the Company who have 
confirmed that for the year ended 31 March 2021, the above agreements have been entered into (a) in the ordinary and 
usual course of business of the Group; (b) on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from 
independent third parties, and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and 
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has confirmed to us that, in respect of the above-mentioned 
continuing connected transactions: (a) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that 
the transactions have not been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors; (b) nothing has come to the auditor’s 
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with 
the pricing policies of the Group; (c) nothing has come to the attention of the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor 
to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material aspects, in accordance with the relevant 
agreements governing such transactions; and (d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the transactions, 
nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions have exceeded the 
annual cap disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 13 March 2018 and the announcement of the Company dated 
9 February 2018.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval 
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules during the reporting year.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, save as the continuing connected transactions mentioned on pages 46 to 48 and 
related party transactions disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had not entered into 
other significant transactions with related parties. No transactions have been entered into with the Directors (being the 
key management personnel) during the year other than the emoluments paid to them as disclosed in note 15 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

A management discussion and analysis of the Group’s annual results is shown on pages 6 to 8.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A corporate governance report is shown on pages 12 to 19.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company comprises three independent non-executive Directors. The audit committee has 
reviewed the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group and the Company’s audited results for the year 
ended 31 March 2021 and discussed with the management regarding auditing, internal control and financial reporting 
matters.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Directors and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is 
confirmed that there is sufficient public float, representing more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the latest 
practicable date prior to the issue of this report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors of the Company nor their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any 
business or interest in a business which competes or may compete with the businesses of the Group.
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OTHER MATTERS

(a) The company secretary and the qualified accountant of the Company is Mr. Yiu King Ming, CPA.

(b) The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. Bao Yueqing appointed pursuant to Rule 5.19 of the GEM Listing 
Rules.

AUDITORS

At the Company’s last annual general meeting, RSM Hong Kong was re-appointed as auditor of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong Kong who retired and, being eligible, offer itself 
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong as the auditor of the Company is to be 
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

There has been no change in auditors of the Company in the three years ended 31 March 2021.

By Order of the Board
He Chenguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 June 2021
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shentong Robot Education Group Company Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 55 to 124, which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. The key audit matter we identified is impairment assessment on tangible and intangible assets 
attributable to the “Robotics Education and Others Cash Generating Unit”.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Impairment assessment of “Robotics Education 
and Others Cash-Generating Unit” (“CGU”)

Refer to note 18 of the consolidated financial 
statements and accounting policies 4(b), 4(e) and 4(v).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s Robotics Education 
and Others Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) has 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and 
r ight-of-use assets with carrying amounts of 
HK$613,000, HK$87,740,000 and HK$732,000 
respectively.

In performing the impairment assessment, the 
recoverable amount of the CGU was determined on 
the basis of a value in use model that required 
significant management judgement and estimate in 
making assumptions about budgeted gross profit, 
terminal growth rate and in selecting an appropriate 
market discount rate.

Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate 
are subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties 
in the current year due to uncertainty on how the 
COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve and 
volatility in financial markets, including potential 
disruptions of the Group’s operation.

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment 
assessment included:

— Understanding the Group’s internal control related to the 
Key Audit Matters accounting estimates;

— Evaluating whether management has taken appropriate 
steps to understand and address estimation uncertainty;

— Evaluating the independent external valuer’s competence, 
capabilities and objectivity;

— Assessing the integrity of the value in use model;

— Challenging the reasonableness of management’s key 
assumptions based on our knowledge of the business 
and industry;

— Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, including 
approved budgets and considering the historical 
accuracy of these budgets; and

— Assessing the appropriateness of the discount rate used 
with the assistance of our internal valuation specialist.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises all the information included in 
the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	 internal	control	 relevant	 to	 the	audit	 in	order	 to	design	audit	procedures	 that	are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	on	the	
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	 including	the	
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	or	business	activities	
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Yam Tak Fai, Ronald.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two
28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

18 June 2021
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2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 7 5,233 128,841
Cost of service (7,258) (44,392)
    

Gross (loss)/profit (2,025) 84,449

Investment and other income 8 1,218 756
Other gains and losses, net 9 (2,780) (332,120)
Reversal of impairment allowance/(impairment allowance) on 
 expected credit losses 141 (700)
Selling and distribution expenses (1,786) (11,838)
Administrative expenses (15,756) (25,987)
    

Loss from operations (20,988) (285,440)
Finance costs 11 (2,238) (2,694)
    

Loss before tax (23,226) (288,134)
Income tax credit 12 24 55,101
    

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company 13 (23,202) (233,033)
    

HK cent HK cent
Loss per share

Basic (cents per share) 17(a) (1.22) (12.29)
    

Diluted (cents per share) 17(b) N/A N/A
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2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss for the year (23,202) (233,033)

Other comprehensive income
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 23,486 (28,912)
   

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to  
 owners of the Company 284 (261,945)
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2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 19 623 2,060
Right-of-use assets 20 1,639 4,349
Goodwill 21 – –
Intangible assets 22 87,740 80,969
    

Total non-current assets 90,002 87,378
    

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 24 5,793 18,397
Bank and cash balances 25 275,423 262,599
    

Total current assets 281,216 280,996
    

TOTAL ASSETS 371,218 368,374
    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 32 18,957 18,957
Reserves 34 19,083 18,799
    

Total equity 38,040 37,756
    

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 30 – 2,407
Promissory note 29 111,404 109,515
Deferred tax liabilities 31 23,672 21,844
    

Total non-current liabilities 135,076 133,766
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2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current liabilities
Contract liabilities 27 39,592 39,574
Receipt in advance 12 12
Accruals and other payables 26 114,423 117,308
Interest free loans from a substantial shareholder of the Company, 
 China Communication Investment Limited (“CCI”) 28 8,300 –
Lease liabilities 30 2,731 4,308
Current tax liabilities 33,044 35,650
    

Total current liabilities 198,102 196,852
    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 371,218 368,374
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 18 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

He Chenguang Bao Yueqing
Director Director
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Merger 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

At 1 April 2019 18,957 1,354,838 8,320 (5,596) 625 1,483 (1,078,926) 299,701

Share-based payments
 — lapsed share options (note 35) – – – – – (1,483) 1,483 –

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – (28,912) – – (233,033) (261,945)
         

Changes in equity for the year – – – (28,912) – (1,483) (231,550) (261,945)
         

At 31 March 2020 18,957 1,354,838 8,320 (34,508) 625 – (1,310,476) 37,756
         

At 1 April 2020 18,957 1,354,838 8,320 (34,508) 625 – (1,310,476) 37,756

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – 23,486 – – (23,202) 284
         

Changes in equity for the year – – – 23,486 – – (23,202) 284
         

At 31 March 2021 18,957 1,354,838 8,320 (11,022) 625 – (1,333,678) 38,040
         



SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED60

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax (23,226) (288,134)

Adjustments for:
 Amortisation of intangible assets (note 22) 95 705
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 19) 1,542 8,330
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 20) 2,608 5,751
 Gain on early termination of leases (note 9) (112) –
 Finance costs (note 11) 2,238 2,694
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 9) (54) (114)
 Gain on modification of leases (note 9) – (1,442)
 (Reversal of impairment allowance)/impairment allowance on expected credit losses (141) 700
 Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 18) – 7,113
 Impairment of right-of-use assets (note 18) – 5,891
 Impairment of goodwill (note 18) – 36,068
 Impairment of intangible assets (note 18) – 286,758
 Interest income (note 8) (581) (734)
 Written off of property, plant and equipment (note 9) – 186
   

Operating (loss)/profit before working capital changes (17,631) 63,772
 Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 12,604 23,968
 (Decrease)/Increase in accruals and other payables (2,885) 6,661
 Decrease in contract liabilities (3,231) (8,590)
   

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (11,143) 85,811
Interest on lease liabilities (349) (800)
Income tax paid, net (4,873) (16,606)
   

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (16,365) 68,405
   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 66 114
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (note 19) – (2,257)
Interest received (note 8) 581 734
Payments for right-of-use assets (note 20) – (785)
   

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 647 (2,194)
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2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Principal elements of lease liabilities (3,929) (5,376)
Interest free loans from CCI 8,300 3,700
Repayment of CCI interest free loans – (3,700)
   

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 4,371 (5,376)
   

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (11,347) 60,835

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 24,171 (19,658)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 262,599 221,422
   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 275,423 262,599
   

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank and cash balances 275,423 262,599
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the 
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is PO Box 309 GT, Ugland House, 
South Church Street, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business in 
Hong Kong is Units 2115–2116, 21/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168–200 Connaught Road 
Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the 
“HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting 
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable 
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and with 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies 
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for 
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting policies 
resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the 
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The Group has applied the Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards 
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily 
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)
Except as described below, the application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework 
in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the 
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out 
in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
The amendments provide a new definition of material that states “information is material if omitting, 
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of 
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial 
information about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the 
nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with other information, in the context 
of the financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
The amendments clarify the definition of a business and provide further guidance on how to determine 
whether a transaction represents a business combination. In addition, the amendments introduce an optional 
“concentration test” that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets 
is an asset rather than business acquisition, when substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets 
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to transactions for which the acquisition date is on or 
after 1 April 2020. The application of the amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
The amendments modify specific hedge accounting requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for 
affected hedges during the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging instruments affected 
by the current interest rate benchmarks are amended as a result of the on-going interest rate benchmark 
reform.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as the Group’s is not 
affected by the interest rate benchmark reform.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)
Amendment to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
The amendment provides a practical expedient that allows a lessee to by-pass the need to evaluate whether 
certain qualifying rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19 
Related Rent Concessions”) are lease modifications and, instead, account for those rent concessions as if 
they were not lease modifications.

The Group has elected to early adopt the amendments and applies the practical expedient to all qualifying 
COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions granted to the Group during the year. Consequently, rent concessions 
received have been accounted for as negative variable lease payments recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurred. There is no impact on the 
opening balance of equity at 1 April 2020.

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
Other than the amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions, the Group has not applied 
any new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year beginning 
1 April 2020. These new and revised HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for 
accounting periods 

beginning on or after
  

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and 
 HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 1 January 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment: 
 proceeds before intended use 1 January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract 1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 Cycle 1 January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments and new 
standards is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of 
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, unless 
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policy below (e.g. investment properties and certain financial instruments 
that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below.

(a) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
made up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an 
entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when 
the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that 
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held 
by other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise 
the right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is 
classified as held for sale).

(b) Business combination (other than under common control) and goodwill
The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the 
assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are 
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their 
acquisition-date fair values.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Business combination (other than under common control) and goodwill (Continued)
The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is 
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is 
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit 
or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the consideration transferred in a business combination to 
calculate the goodwill.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating 
units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each 
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which 
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken 
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The 
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the higher 
of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an 
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

(c) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial recognition using 
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses 
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any 
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain or 
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or 
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from 
the Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as 
follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period (unless this average 
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on 
the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary items that form part of 
the net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences 
are reclassified to the consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(d) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in 
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their 
residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as 
follows:

Computer equipment 33%–50%
Leasehold improvements Shorter of unexpired lease period and useful lives
Equipment, furniture and fixtures 20%–331/3%
Motor vehicles 18%–25%
Training equipments 331/3%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective 
basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

(e) Intangible assets
(i) Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from 
goodwill where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset.

Intangible assets assessed to have indefinite useful lives are not amortised. Any conclusion that the 
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine whether events and 
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, 
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from 
the date of change and amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the asset’s 
estimated remaining useful life.

Impairment reviews of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are undertaken annually, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.

(ii) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation 
of intangible assets is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight line basis 
over the estimated useful lives.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the Group recognises the 
related revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to 
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding 
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, a net contract liability is presented.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest accrued 
under the effective interest method.

(g) Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use 
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee
Where the contract contains lease components and non-lease components, the Group has elected not to 
separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease 
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for 
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets which, for the 
Group are primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value 
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments 
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis 
over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease 
payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease 
liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the effective interest method. 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the 
lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g) Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises 
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, 
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an 
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site 
on which it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use 
asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased 
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. 
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful 
life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the 
cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will be 
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is 
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, 
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for 
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for 
as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and 
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions are any 
rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the 
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases, the group took advantage of the practical 
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change in consideration as if it were not 
a lease modification.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h) Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)), are added to or deducted from the fair value 
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial 
assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the 
classification of the financial assets.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of contractual cash flows which represent 
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is calculated using the 
effective interest method.

— Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) — recycling, if the contractual cash flows of 
the investment comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the investment is held within a 
business model whose objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows and sale. 
Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the recognition in profit 
or loss of expected credit losses, interest income (calculated using the effective interest method) and 
foreign exchange gains and losses. When the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in 
other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

— FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI 
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are recognised in profit or 
loss.

(j) Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to 
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that 
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive 
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three 
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of 
the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 73

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(l) Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity 
instruments are set out below.

(m) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(n) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case 
they are stated at cost.

(o) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual interest in the assets of an equity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

(p) Revenue and other income
Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer, at the amount 
of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of 
any trade discounts.

Promotion and Management Services
The Group provides “Designated Shentong Card” marketing and after-sale services to its substantial 
shareholder 神州通信集團有限公司 (China Communication Group Co., Ltd.*) (“CCC”). The Group is 
responsible for providing the relevant services to CCC on an ongoing basis and relevant revenue being 
calculated and settled according to relevant contract monthly. The management is of the opinion that the 
relevant services are provided as a series of distinct services of similar nature which CCC consumes as the 
Group provides, hence the relevant revenue are recognised over the ongoing servicing period.

The revenue includes issuance handling fees, sale commission and technical service commission.

* English name is for identification purpose only
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(p) Revenue and other income (Continued)
Robotics Education and Others
The Group organises various robotics courses and competition events in Heilongjiang Province of the PRC 
under terms of the Exclusive Right (Note 22(i)).

For robotics course income, the Group charges the enrolled students with published course fees fully in 
advance and recorded as “contract liabilities”. The courses are divided into lessons of equal teaching hours 
that scheduled across a period of several months to half year. The Group recognise the corresponding portion 
of course fee as revenue after the delivery of each lesson. At the end of accounting period, the carrying 
amount of “contract liabilities” represents the transaction price of lessons allocated to the remaining 
performance obligation with enrolled students (i.e. unearned revenue).

For training equipment rental income, the Group charges the user with rental fee and recognise as revenue 
over the rental period. The rental periods are generally within hours, depending on training equipment types.

The Group also has the following types of revenue which recognised at the point of time when the relevant 
services are rendered.

— For competition admission income, the Group charges the participant with admission fee upon 
registration and recognise as revenue when the relevant competition being held.

— For robotics international exchange programme registration, the Group charges the applicants with 
registration fee and recognise as revenue at the time upon registration.

— For voting service income of robotics events, the Group charges the voter and recognise as revenue at 
the time when casting the vote.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method. For financial assets 
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is 
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest 
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(q) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a 
result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all eligible 
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage 
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents 
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw 
the offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the 
payment of termination benefits.

(r) Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees and others providing similar 
services. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market 
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the 
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions.

(s) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings 
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the 
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable 
to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made 
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding 
after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for 
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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(t) Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for 
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

(u) Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised 
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Impairment of non-financial assets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that are not yet available for use are reviewed for 
impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of 
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the fair 
value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. 
Present values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and then pro 
rata amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount 
caused by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the impairment.

(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that 
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets, as 
well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting 
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The 
expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that 
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after 
the reporting date.
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(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting 
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making 
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue 
cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in 
which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental 
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external 
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial 
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days 
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of 
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not 
available, the asset has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a 
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is 
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for 
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial 
recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified 
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are 
generally not recoverable:

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely 
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the 
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is 
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate 
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
includes observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider;

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the 
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. 
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability 
of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as 
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross 
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount 
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in 
the future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific 
future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash 
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects 
to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for 
determining the expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease 
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default 
by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance 
is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the 
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in 
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime 
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the 
current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments 
in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the 
carrying amount of the financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(x) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money 
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is 
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is 
remote.

(y) Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of 
the reporting period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting 
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are 
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgement that has the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart from those 
involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a) Exclusive Rights assessed to have indefinite useful lives
The Group regarded and assessed the Exclusive Rights to have indefinite useful lives as at date of acquisition 
and at end of reporting period. Accounting policy of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is set out in 
note 4(e) to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the Exclusive Rights and the reasons for the 
Group’s assessment are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Significant increase in credit risk
As explained in note 4(w), ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or 
lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit 
risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account 
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.

(c) Determining the lease term
In determining the lease term at the commencement date for leases that include renewal options exercisable 
by the Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal options taking into account all 
relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for the Group to exercise the option, 
including favourable terms, leasehold improvements undertaken and the importance of that underlying asset 
to the Group’s operation.

The lease term is reassessed when there is a significant event or significant change in circumstance that is 
within the Group’s control. During the current financial year, no lease term has been reassessed.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and 
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may 
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable 
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based 
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the 
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions 
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially 
affect the net present value used in the impairment test.

Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate are subject to higher degree of estimation 
uncertainties in the current year due to uncertainty on how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve 
and volatility in financial markets, including potential disruptions of the Group’s operation.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31 March 2021 were 
approximately HK$623,000 (2020: HK$2,060,000) and HK$1,639,000 (2020: HK$4,349,000). No impairment 
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets was recognised during the year (2020: 
HK$7,113,000 and HK$5,891,000 impairment were recognised in year ended 31 March 2020 respectively).

(b) Robotics Education and Others CGU impairment assessment
The Group’s Robotics Education and Others Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) includes intangible assets (i.e. 
Exclusive Rights and Mobile Application and other assets relevant to the CGU). These relate to the Group’s 
acquisition of Robotics Education Course and Others operations which management is required to assess for 
impairment. The impairment assessment involves the value in use of CGU, which requires the Group to 
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate the present value.

Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate are subject to higher degree of estimation 
uncertainties in the current year due to uncertainty on how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve 
and volatility in financial markets, including potential disruptions of the Group’s operation.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of intangible assets was HK$87,740,000 (2020: HK$80,969,000). 
No impairment loss was recognised during the year (2020: HK$286,758,000 impairment loss was recognised 
in the year ended 31 March 2020).
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in determining 
the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income 
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. During the year, no 
income tax expense (2020: HK$17,138,000) was charged in profit or loss based on the estimated loss (2020: 
profit) of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC; in addition, HK$24,000 (2020: HK$72,239,000) of income tax 
credit was recognised in profit or loss mainly due to the reversal of deferred tax liabilities on intangible 
assets.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and 
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk
The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets and 
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional currencies of the principal operation entities of the 
Group. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency 
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider 
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily 
trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, 
foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments.

Trade receivables (including trade balance due from CCC, the holding company of CCI and regarded 
as the substantial shareholder of the Company)
Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures 
and control relating to customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations are performed on all 
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of 
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the 
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates. Trade 
receivables are due within 30 days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 90 days 
past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit is granted.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and similar trade in nature balances at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss 
allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer 
bases.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (including trade balance due from CCC, the holding company of CCI and regarded 
as the substantial shareholder of the Company) (Continued)
The Group’s amount due from a substantial shareholder is trade in nature.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for amount due 
from a substantial shareholder as at 31 March 2021:

2021
 

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

% HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Not past due 0% – –
1–30 days past due 0% 1,291 –
31–60 days past due 0% 439 –
61–90 days past due 0% – –
Over 90 days past due 1.75% – –
    

1,730 –
    

2020
 

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

% HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Not past due 0% – –
1–30 days past due 0% 7,795 –
31–60 days past due 0% 5,300 –
61–90 days past due 0% 1,472 –
Over 90 days past due 1.75% – –
    

14,567 –
    

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 3 years and are adjusted to reflect 
differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected, 
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (including trade balance due from CCC, the holding company of CCI and regarded 
as the substantial shareholder of the Company) (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At 1 April – –
Impairment losses recognised for the year – –
   

At 31 March – –
   

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at amortised cost include other receivables, deposits and bank and cash balances.

All of the Group’s financial assets at amortised cost are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss 
allowance recognised during the period was therefore limited to 12-month expected losses. They are 
considered to be ‘low credit risk’ when they have a low rate of default and the counterparty has a strong 
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

Movement in the loss allowance for financial assets at amortised cost is as follows:

Other 
receivables Deposits

Bank and 
cash 

balances Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019 – – (196) (196)
     

Impairment allowance recognised for the year – – (700) (700)
     

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 – – (896) (896)
     

Reversal of impairment allowance – – 141 141
     

At 31 March 2021 – – (755) (755)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial 
liabilities is as follows:

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 2 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 31 March 2021
Accruals and other payables 114,423 – 114,423
Promissory note – 113,763 113,763
Interest fee loans from CCI 8,300 – 8,300
Lease liabilities 2,804 – 2,804

At 31 March 2020
Accruals and other payables 117,308 – 117,308
Promissory note – 111,874 111,874
Lease liabilities 4,663 2,477 7,140

(d) Interest rate risk
The Group has minimal exposure to interest rate risk as the changes in market interest rates have 
insignificant effect on the Group’s operating cash flow.

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from promissory note, which is at fixed rate and will expose the Group 
to fair value interest-rate risk.

The Group’s loans from CCI are interest rate which no interest rate risk.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 March:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets:
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
 — Deposits and other receivables 2,963 15,557
 — Bank and cash balances 275,423 262,599

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
 — Accruals and other payables 114,423 117,308
 — Interest free loans from CCI 8,300 –
 — Promissory note 111,404 109,515
   

(f) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated 
statement of financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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7. REVENUE

(a) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major services line for the year is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15

2021 2020  

Reportable Segments

Promotion 
and 

Management 
Services

Robotics 
Education 

and Others Total

Promotion 
and 

Management 
Services

Robotics 
Education 

and Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Types of service

Promotion and Management Services
 — Designated Shentong Cards 562 – 562 9,498 – 9,498
       

Robotics Education and Others
 — Robotics course – 4,671 4,671 – 110,459 110,459
 — Rental of training equipment – – – – 1,542 1,542
 — Competition admission – – – – 3,828 3,828
 — Robotics international exchange 
   programme registration fee – – – – 3,514 3,514
       

– 4,671 4,671 – 119,343 119,343
       

Total 562 4,671 5,233 9,498 119,343 128,841
       

Geographical market
Mainland China 562 4,671 5,233 9,498 119,343 128,841
       

Time of revenue recognition
A point in time – – – – 7,342 7,342
Over time 562 4,671 5,233 9,498 112,001 121,499
       

562 4,671 5,233 9,498 119,343 128,841
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7. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) 
as at 31 March 2021 and the expected timing of recognising revenue as follows:

Robotics Education and Others
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Within 1 year 39,592 39,574
More than 1 year – –
   

39,592 39,574
   

8. INVESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest income 581 734
Government grant* 324 –
Others 313 22
   

1,218 756
   

* During the year, the Group recognised government grants of HK$324,000 in respect of COVID-19 under subsidies for 
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government.
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9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Exchange (loss)/gain (2,946) 2,387
Gain on early termination of lease 112 –
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 54 114
Gain on modification of leases – 1,442
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (note 18) – (7,113)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets (note 18) – (5,891)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 18) – (36,068)
Impairment loss on intangible assets (note 18) – (286,758)
Written off of property, plant and equipment – (186)
Others – (47)
   

(2,780) (332,120)
   

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has the following operating segments:

Promotion and Management Services — Provision of promotion and management services for an electronic 
smart card “Designated Shentong Card” in the PRC.

Robotics Education and Others — Organising and hosting of China Robot Competition (“CRC”) and 
provision of CRC education course in Heilongjiang Province in the 
PRC.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. They are 
managed separately because each business requires different technology and marketing strategies. Each of the 
above operating segments corresponds to related subsidiaries engaging in the respective segment activities.

The accounting policies of the operating segment are the same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated 
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not include finance costs, income tax expense and unallocated 
corporate expenses. Segment assets include all non-current assets and current assets with the exception of 
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all non-current liabilities and current liabilities with the exception of 
current tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities and corporate liabilities.
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about operating segments’ profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

2021 2020  
Promotion 

and 
Management 

Services

Robotics 
Education 

and Others Total

Promotion 
and 

Management 
Services

Robotics 
Education 

and Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Year ended 31 March
Revenue from external customer 
 (including a related company) 562 4,671 5,233 9,498 119,343 128,841
Segment loss (1,903) (9,006) (10,909) (4,304) (267,784) (272,088)
Interest income 21 560 581 44 689 733
Depreciation and amortisation (117) (1,919) (2,036) (2,051) (10,699) (12,750)

Other materials non-cash items:
Gain on early termination of lease (note 9) 112 – 112 – – –
Gain on modification of leases – – – 1,442 – 1,442
Impairment loss on property, 
 plant and equipment (note 18) – – – (320) (6,793) (7,113)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets (note 18) – – – (2,136) (3,755) (5,891)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 18) – – – – (36,068) (36,068)
Impairment loss on intangible assets (note 18) – – – – (286,758) (286,758)

112 – 112 (1,014) (333,374) (334,388)

Additions to segment non-current assets – – – 189 2,843 3,032

As at 31 March
Segment assets 35,853 354,093 389,946 34,976 348,017 382,993
Segment liabilities 2,900 257,098 259,998 2,776 261,976 264,752
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit, assets and liabilities:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue
Total revenue of reportable segments 5,233 128,841
   

Consolidated revenue 5,233 128,841
   

Profit or loss
Total loss of reportable segments (10,909) (272,088)
Finance costs (2,238) (2,694)
Income tax credit 24 55,101
Unallocated amounts:
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets (2,179) (2,005)
 Directors’ emoluments and allowances (note 15(a)) (3,396) (4,106)
 Legal and professional fee (922) (643)
 Salaries and allowances (1,491) (3,719)
 Other unallocated head office and corporate expenses (2,091) (2,879)
   

Consolidated loss for the year (23,202) (233,033)
   

Assets
Total assets of reportable segments 389,946 382,993
Elimination of intersegment assets (126,915) (126,915)
Unallocated assets:
 Amount due from reportable segment 105,000 105,000
 Bank and cash balances 1,387 3,291
 Other unallocated head office and corporate assets 1,800 4,005
   

Consolidated total assets 371,218 368,374
   

Liabilities
Total liabilities of reportable segment 259,998 264,752
Elimination of intersegment liabilities (126,915) (126,915)
Current tax liabilities 33,044 35,650
Deferred tax liabilities 23,672 21,844
Promissory note 111,404 109,515
Unallocated liabilities:
 Interest free loans from CCI 8,300 –
 Other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 23,675 25,772
   

Consolidated total liabilities 333,178 330,618
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information
No separate analysis of segment information by geographical is presented as the Group’s revenue and non-current 
assets are principally attributable to a single geographical region, which is the PRC.

Revenue from major customer

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

CCC — Promotion and Management Services segment 562 9,498
   

11. FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on promissory note payable to CCI 1,889 1,894
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 349 800
   

2,238 2,694
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current tax — PRC
 Provision for the year – 17,138
Deferred tax (note 31) (24) (72,239)
   

(24) (55,101)
   

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since the Group has no assessable profit for the years ended 31 
March 2021 and 2020.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is required since the Group has no assessable profit for the year 
ended 31 March 2021. (2020: PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25%).

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the product of loss before tax multiplied by the PRC 
Enterprise Income Tax rate is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss before tax (23,226) (288,134)
   

Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) (5,806) (72,033)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised (24) (72,239)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 3,051 87,507
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 2,755 1,124
PRC dividend tax – 540
   

Income tax credit (24) (55,101)
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13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Auditor’s remuneration
 — audit services 625 700
 — other services 505 595

1,130 1,295
Amortisation of intangible assets
 — included in cost of service 95 705

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 19) 1,542 8,330

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 20) 2,608 5,751

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 9) (54) (114)

Gain on early termination of lease (note 9) (112) –

Gain on modification of leases (note 9) – (1,442)

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (note 18) – 7,113

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets (note 18) – 5,891

Impairment loss on goodwill (note 18) – 36,068

Impairment loss on intangible assets (note 18) – 286,758

Legal and professional fee (excluding auditor’s remuneration) 935 653

Operating lease charges for land and buildings – 346

Written off of property, plant and equipment – 186
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Employee benefits expenses:
 Salaries, bonuses and allowances 10,978 20,528
 Retirement benefit scheme contributions 508 1,476
   

11,486 22,004
   

Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included two (2020: two) directors whose 
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 15. The emoluments of the remaining three (2020: 
three) individuals are set out below:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Basic salaries and allowances 1,704 2,716
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 54 48
   

1,758 2,764
   

The emoluments fell within the following band:

Number of individuals
2021 2020

   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 – 1
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15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of every director is set out below:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

Emoluments 
paid or 

receivable in 
respect of
director’s 

other 
services in 
connection 

with the 
management 

of the 
affairs of the 
Company or 

its subsidiary 
undertaking Total

 

Fees Salaries
Discretionary 

bonus

Estimated 
money 

value of 
other benefits

Employer’s 
contribution 

to a 
retirement 

benefits 
scheme

Remunerations 
paid or 

receivable in 
respect of 
accepting 

office director
Housing 

allowance
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

          

Executive directors
He Chenguang – 1,800 – – 18 – – – 1,818
Bao Yueqing – 868 – – 18 – 392 – 1,278

Independent non-executive 
 directors
Yip Tai Him 100 – – – – – – – 100
Han Liqun 100 – – – – – – – 100
Zhang Li 100 – – – – – – – 100          

Total for the year ended 
 31 March 2021 300 2,668 – – 36 – 392 – 3,396
          

Executive directors
He Chenguang – 2,210 – – 18 – – – 2,228
Bao Yueqing – 1,156 – – 18 – 404 – 1,578

Independent non-executive 
 directors
Yip Tai Him 100 – – – – – – – 100
Han Liqun 100 – – – – – – – 100
Zhang Li 100 – – – – – – – 100          

Total for the year ended 
 31 March 2020 300 3,366 – – 36 – 404 – 4,106
          

None of the directors had waived any emoluments during the year (2020: Nil).
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15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
Save for salaries and allowance paid to a close family member of an executive director and office rental as 
disclosed in note 40(a) to the consolidated financial statements, no significant transactions, arrangements 
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director 
of the Company and the director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

16. DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or proposed during the year, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of 
reporting period (2020: Nil).

17. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the 
Company of approximately HK$23,202,000 (2020: HK$233,033,000) and the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares of approximately 1,895,697,017 (2020: 1,895,697,017) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share
No diluted earnings per share was presented as the Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary 
shares for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

18. IMPAIRMENT OF CASH GENERATING UNITS (“CGUs”)

The Group has two CGUs, namely, Promotion and Management Services CGU and Robotics Education and Others 
CGU.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill and intangible 
assets are allocated to the above CGUs. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined on the basis 
of their value in use calculations using discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash 
flow method are those regarding the discount rates, terminal growth rates and budgeted gross profit during the 
period. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on long-term average economic 
growth rate of the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGU operate. Budgeted gross margin and 
revenue are based on past practices and expectations on market development.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Promotion and Management Services CGU
Certain property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are attributable to this CGU. During the year ended 
31 March 2020, management assessed that all the aforementioned CGU assets were impaired. No further 
impairment is required for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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18. IMPAIRMENT OF CASH GENERATING UNITS (“CGUs”) (CONTINUED)

Robotics Education and Others CGU
At 31 March 2021, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with carrying amounts 
of HK$613,000, HK$732,000 and HK$87,740,000 (after impairment in year ended 31 March 2020) was allocated to 
the Robotics Education and Others CGU. Management has prepared cash flow forecasts derived from the most 
recent financial budgets approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual period using terminal 
growth rate of 2% (2020: 3%). This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant 
markets.

The Group has engaged external independent valuer to assist the management to estimate the recoverable 
amounts of the Robotics Education and Others CGU. The pre-tax discount rate used to discount the forecast cash 
flows of the CGU is 19.4% (2020: 24.3%). The change of pre-tax discount rate is mainly due to change in market 
debt-to-equity ratio for the reporting period.

Based on the result of impairment testing at 31 March 2021, management assessed that no additional impairment 
is required for the year.

At 31 March 2021, the recoverable amount of Robotics Education and Others CGU (which is within the Robotics 
Education and Others segment) was approximately equal to its value in use. Any change in management 
assumptions would lead of further impairment of assets of this CGU.

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Right-of-use 

assets Goodwill
Intangible 

assets Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 19) (note 20) (note 21) (note 22)

      

Promotion and Management 
 Services cash generating unit (“CGU”) 320 2,136 – – 2,456
Robotics Educations and Others CGU – – 23,721 – 23,721
      

First interim reporting period impairment 320 2,136 23,721 – 26,177
      

Promotion and Management Services CGU – – – – –
Robotics Educations and Others CGU 6,793 3,755 12,347 286,758 309,653
      

Second interim reporting period impairment 6,793 3,755 12,347 286,758 309,653
      

Total impairment for year ended 31 March 2020 7,113 5,891 36,068 286,758 335,830
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18. IMPAIRMENT OF CASH GENERATING UNITS (“CGUs”) (CONTINUED)

Impairment loss of Promotion and Management Services CGU for the first interim period
During the first interim reporting period, management assessed whether there was any indication that the carrying 
amount of Promotion and Management Services CGU may be impaired. Financial performance of this CGU did not 
meet forecasts due to government’s increasing regulation of online game operations. Management revised the 
forecast and determined the value in use to be HK$1,462,000, and the pre-tax discount rate used to calculate the 
value in use was 26.0%. As a result, an impairment loss of HK$2,456,000 was recognised for the CGU and was 
charged against property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the CGU.

Impairment loss of Robotics Education and Others CGU for the first interim period
During the first interim reporting period, management assessed whether there was any indication that the carrying 
amount of Robotics Education and Others CGU may be impaired. Financial performance of this CGU did not meet 
forecasts due to economic downturn and declined revenue. Management revised the forecast and determined the 
value in use to be HK$363,944,000, and the pre-tax discount rate used to calculate the value in use was 26.0%. As 
a result, an impairment loss of HK$23,721,000 was recognised for the CGU and was fully charged against the 
goodwill attributable to the CGU.

The Group has engaged external independent valuer to assist the management to estimate the recoverable 
amounts of the Robotics Education and Others CGU.

Impairment loss of Robotics Education and Others CGU for the second interim period
At 31 March 2020, before impairment testing, goodwill with carrying amount of HK$12,347,000 (after impairment 
in first interim reporting period) and intangible assets with carrying value of HK$360,090,000 was allocated to the 
Robotics Education and Others CGU. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19 and its enduring adverse effect on 
economy of Heilongjiang province, management estimated the operation of the CGU would be severely affected 
both in short term and long term. Based on the latest assessment of the economic condition and future demand of 
robotics education course in Heilongjiang province, management has prepared cash flow forecasts derived from 
the most recent financial budgets approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual period using 
the growth rate of 3% . This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The pre-tax discount rate used to discount the forecast cash flows of the CGU is 24.3%. Pre-tax discount rates 
presented above are calculated by grossing up the post-tax discount rate by one less income tax rate applicable to 
the CGU. The change of pre-tax discount rate is mainly due to decrease in risk-free rate and change in market debt-
to-equity ratio for the reporting period.

As a result of the impairment testing at 31 March 2020, the CGU (excluding bank and cash balances) has been 
reduced to its recoverable amount of HK$83,948,000, with impairment losses recognised in goodwill of 
HK$12,347,000, intangible assets of HK$286,758,000, property, plant and equipment of HK$6,793,000 and right-
of-use assets of HK$3,755,000.

The Group has engaged external independent valuer to assist the management to estimate the recoverable 
amounts of the Robotics Education and Others CGU.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Computer 
equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

Equipment, 
furniture 

and fixtures
Motor 

vehicles
Training 

equipments Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Cost

At 1 April 2019 10,416 7,155 1,432 2,521 14,384 35,908
Additions 267 978 90 – 922 2,257
Written off (3,645) – (355) – – (4,000)
Disposal (20) – – – – (20)
Exchange differences (573) (425) (86) (163) (956) (2,203)
       

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 6,445 7,708 1,081 2,358 14,350 31,942
Written off – (754) (153) – (641) (1,548)
Disposal – – – (108) (22) (130)
Exchange differences 532 544 87 196 1,195 2,554
       

At 31 March 2021 6,977 7,498 1,015 2,446 14,882 32,818
       

Accumulated depreciation and 
 impairment losses

At 1 April 2019 7,133 3,022 905 1,362 7,371 19,793
Charge for the year 1,766 2,023 336 434 3,771 8,330
Impairment losses (note 18) 1,226 2,375 200 138 3,174 7,113
Written off (3,470) – (344) – – (3,814)
Disposal (20) – – – – (20)
Exchange differences (439) (250) (65) (104) (662) (1,520)
       

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 6,196 7,170 1,032 1,830 13,654 29,882
Charge for the year 231 453 50 417 391 1,542
Written off – (754) (153) – (641) (1,548)
Disposal – – – (96) (22) (118)
Exchange differences 519 516 86 167 1,149 2,437
       

At 31 March 2021 6,946 7,385 1,015 2,318 14,531 32,195
       

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2021 31 113 – 128 351 623
       

At 31 March 2020 249 538 49 528 696 2,060
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased 
properties

HK$’000
  

At 1 April 2019 16,459
Additions 785
Depreciation (5,751)
Modification of leases (775)
Impairment loss (note 18) (5,891)
Exchange differences (478)
  

At 31 March 2020 4,349
Depreciation (2,608)
Early termination of leases (187)
Exchange differences 85
  

At 31 March 2021 1,639
  

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets (included in cost of service, 
 selling expenses and administrative expenses) 2,608 5,751
Interest expense on lease liabilities (included in finance cost) 349 800
Expenses relating to short-term lease – 346
   

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 36(b).

For both years, the Group leases various offices and venues for its operations. Lease terms are negotiated on an 
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and 
assessing the length of non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the 
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 6 years. Some leases include an option to renew the 
lease for an additional period after the end of the contract term. Where practicable, the Group seeks to include 
such extension options exercisable by the Group to provide operational flexibility. The Group assesses at lease 
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. If the Group is not 
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options, the future lease payments during the extension periods are 
not included in the measurement of lease liabilities.
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21. GOODWILL

Robotics 
Education and 

Others CGU
HK$’000

  

Cost

As at 1 April 2019 37,537
Exchange differences (2,430)
  

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 35,107
Exchange differences 2,978
  

At 31 March 2021 38,085
  

Accumulated impairment losses

As at 1 April 2019 –
Impairment loss (note 18) 36,068
Exchange differences (961)
  

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 35,107
Exchange differences 2,978
  

At 31 March 2021 38,085
  

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2021 –
  

At 31 March 2020 –
  

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the CGUs that are expected to benefit 
from that business combination. All goodwill are allocated to Robotics Education and Others CGU.
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Exclusive 
Rights

Mobile 
Application Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (i)) (note (ii))

    

Cost

At 1 April 2019 384,583 2,202 386,785
Exchange differences (24,893) (143) (25,036)
    

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 359,690 2,059 361,749
Exchange differences 30,511 175 30,686
    

At 31 March 2021 390,201 2,234 392,435
    

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

At 1 April 2019 – 1,040 1,040
Amortisation for the year – 705 705
Impairment loss (note 18) 286,440 318 286,758
Exchange differences (7,630) (93) (7,723)
    

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 278,810 1,970 280,780
Amortisation for the year – 95 95
Exchange differences 23,651 169 23,820
    

At 31 March 2021 302,461 2,234 304,695
    

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2021 87,740 – 87,740
    

At 31 March 2020 80,880 89 80,969
    

As the economic benefits arising from these intangible assets are totally integrated with Robotics Education and 
Others CGU, their respective carrying amounts have been taken into consideration for the impairment assessment 
of this CGU.
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i) Exclusive Rights represent the rights to use the CRC Shentong Card payment system, to organise and develop China 
Robot Competition （全國素質體育機器人運動會） (“CRC”) competition events and to provide CRC education and training 
courses in Heilongjiang Province of the PRC.

Heilongjiang Shentong Cultural Club Company Limited (“Heilongjiang Shentong”), a subsidiary of the Company, was 
authorised by Beijing Shentong Culture Club Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Shentong”, a related company of CCC), and consented by 
the Social Sports Direction Centre of the General Administration of Sport （國家體育總局社會體育指導中心） and further 
confirmed by the Heilongjiang Province Sports Federation （黑龍江省體育總會） and the Harbin Municipal Sports 
Federation （哈爾濱市體育總會） to organise and develop CRC competition events and to provide CRC education and 
training courses in Heilongjiang Province of the PRC.

Pursuant to CRC Organisation Contract, Beijing Shentong obtained from the Social Sports Direction Centre of the General 
Administration of Sport, among other things, the rights to organise and develop CRC competition events and to provide 
CRC education and training courses at a national level for an initial period from 9 May 2011 to 31 December 2016, upon 
the expiry of which the CRC Organisation Contract would be automatically extended. Each extension shall be for a duration 
of five years if the parties have no objection. The parties intend to form a long-term cooperation relationship, and that the 
CRC Organisation Contract shall remain effective for a long-term.

Pursuant to the Heilongjiang CRC Authorisation Supplemental Agreement, so long as the co-operation period between the 
Social Sports Direction Centre of the General Administration of Sport and Beijing Shentong under the CRC Organisation 
Contract remains effective, the authorisation granted by Beijing Shentong to Heilongjiang Shentong would be automatically 
extended indefinitely unless terminated by Heilongjiang Shentong by written notice.

Pursuant to the CRC Shentong Card Payment System Heilongjiang Province Exclusive Right Authorisation Agreement, 
CCC granted to Heilongjiang Shentong the long-term and exclusive right to use the CRC Shentong Card payment system. 
The CRC Shentong Card Payment System Heilongjiang Province Exclusive Right Authorisation Agreement shall be 
effective and extended indefinitely unless terminated by Heilongjiang Shentong.

Exclusive Rights of the Group are regarded and assessed to have indefinite useful lives as there is no foreseeable limit to 
the period over which these assets are expected to generate cash flows for the Group.

(ii) Mobile Application represents the mobile phone software to facilitate training course, CRC competition enrollment and 
attendance management. The amortisation period is 3 years and the remaining life is fully amortised (2020: 0.58 years).
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

Name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
operation

Issued and 
paid up capital/
registered capital

Percentage of 
ownership interest/

voting power/
profit sharing Principal activities

Direct Indirect
      

Copious Link 
 Ventures Limited

British Virgin 
 Islands

US$10 
 ordinary shares

100% – Investment holding

Favor Grow Holdings 
 Limited

British Virgin 
 Islands

US$10 
 ordinary shares

100% – Investment holding

HK6 Investment China 
 (BVI) Limited

British Virgin 
 Islands

US$1 ordinary share 100% – Investment holding

HK6 Investment Limited British Virgin 
 Islands

US$2,614 
 ordinary shares

100% – Investment holding

China Communication 
 Investment (H.K.) Limited

Hong Kong HK$100 
 ordinary shares

– 100% Investment holding

Global Luck 
 Investment Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share – 100% Investment holding

Grandsun International 
 Creation Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share – 100% Investment holding

hk6.com Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 
 ordinary shares

– 100% Inactive

HK6 Media Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares – 100% Lessee of office premises

Hong Kong Financial 
 Institute Limited

Hong Kong HK$1,307 
 ordinary shares

– 100% Inactive

Oriental Glory (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share – 100% Investment holding

Pro-Concept 
 Development Limited

British Virgin 
 Islands

US$1 ordinary share – 100% Inactive
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Name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
operation

Issued and 
paid up capital/
registered capital

Percentage of 
ownership interest/

voting power/
profit sharing Principal activities

Direct Indirect
      

Sino Key International 
 Limited

British Virgin 
 Islands

US$1 ordinary share – 100% Inactive

Success Advantage 
 Investments Limited

British Virgin 
 Islands

US$1 ordinary share – 100% Inactive

神州奧美網絡（國際）

 有限公司
Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100% – Inactive

北京神通益家科技服務

 有限公司 (note)
 (Beijing Shentong Yijia 
 Technology Services 
 Company Limited*)

PRC RMB1,000,000 – 100% Provision of promotion and 
 management services for 
 an electronic smart card 
 “Designated Shentong 
 Card” in the PRC

黑龍江神通文化俱樂部

 有限公司 (note) 
 (Heilongjiang Shentong 
 Cultural Club Company 
 Limited*)

PRC RMB1,000,000 – 100% Provision of robot related 
 consultancy services, 
 organisation of robot 
 competition using 
 Shentong Card as main 
 payment medium, 
 conference services and 
 advertising services

Note: Established in the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

* English name is for identification purpose only

As at 31 March 2021, the bank and cash balances of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in Renminbi 
(“RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$273,918,000 (2020: HK$259,256,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign 
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale 
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Amount due from a substantial shareholder (note) 1,730 14,567
Other receivables 485 300
Prepayments and deposits 3,578 3,530
   

5,793 18,397
   

Note: The amount due from CCC is denominated in RMB, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

25. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

As at 31 March 2021, the bank and cash balances of the Group denominated in RMB was amounted to 
approximately HK$273,918,000 (2020: HK$259,256,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to 
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign 
Exchange Regulations.
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26. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Amount due to CCI (note a) 95,100 95,100
Amount due to CCC (note b) 351 –
Amounts due to related companies (note c) 4,246 4,451
Accrued salaries 6,322 5,936
Accrued expenses 1,148 1,200
Security deposits (note d) 5,329 4,913
Other payables 1,927 5,708
   

114,423 117,308
   

Notes:

(a) The amount due to CCI, a substantial shareholder of the Company is denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable on 15 November 2021.

(b) The amount due to CCC is denominated in RMB, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(c) The amounts due to related companies are denominated in HK$ and RMB, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand. Those related companies are the subsidiaries of CCC and CCI.

(d) The amount represented the security deposits paid by CCC for the Heilongjiang Shentong CRC Shentong Card Payment 
system.
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Billings in advance of performance obligation
 — Robotics course fee 39,592 39,574
   

Contract liabilities represented the prepaid course fee received from enrolled robotics course participants.

Movements in contract liabilities:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Balance at 1 April 39,574 51,252
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of advance payments of robotics course 
 fee received 1,597 105,593
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue during the year (4,828) (114,183)
Exchange differences 3,249 (3,088)
   

Balance at 31 March 39,592 39,574
   

28. INTEREST FREE LOANS FROM CCI

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest free loans from CCI 8,300 –
   

The loans are denominated in HK$, interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

29. PROMISSORY NOTE

As at 31 March 2021, the promissory note is held by CCI with principal amount of approximately HK$94,427,000 
(2020: HK$94,427,000).

On 31 March 2020, the Group and CCI agreed to extend the maturity date from 30 June 2020 to 30 June 2021. On 
31 March 2021, the Group and CCI agreed to further extend the maturity date from 30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022.

The principal amount of the promissory note is denominated in HK$. The promissory note is unsecured. As at 31 
March 2021, the coupon rate is 2% per annum (2020: 2% per annum) and the effective interest rate is 1.70% 
(2020: 1.72%).
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

Minimum
lease payments

Present value of minimum
lease payments

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Within one year 2,804 4,663 2,731 4,308
In the second to fifth years, inclusive – 2,477 – 2,407
After five years – – – –
     

2,804 7,140 2,731 6,715
Less: Future finance charges (73) (425) N/A N/A
     

Present value of lease obligations 2,731 6,715
   

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 
months (shown under current 
liabilities) (2,731) (4,308)

  

Amount due for settlement after 12 months – 2,407
  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s for lease denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

HKD 867 2,933
RMB 1,864 3,782
   

2,731 6,715
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31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Intangible 
assets

Undistributed 
profits of 

subsidiaries Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 April 2019 96,437 2,100 98,537
 Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 12) (71,866) (373) (72,239)
 Exchange differences (4,328) (126) (4,454)
    

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 20,243 1,601 21,844
 Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 12) (24) – (24)
 Exchange differences 1,716 136 1,852
    

At 31 March 2021 21,935 1,737 23,672
    

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit 
streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed 
earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is approximately 
HK$226,773,000 (2020: HK$223,909,000). No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because 
the Group is in a position to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL

2021 2020
  

Number of 
shares Amount

Number of 
shares Amount

HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At the beginning and the end of the year 10,000,000,000 100,000 10,000,000,000 100,000
     

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At the beginning and the end of the year 1,895,697,017 18,957 1,895,697,017 18,957
     

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amounts of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying 
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue 
new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the 
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security 
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgements to the capital structure in light of changes in economic 
conditions. In order to adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt 
divided by adjusted capital. Total debt is defined as promissory note and all amounts due to related companies. 
Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity except for non-controlling interests, if any.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

During the current reporting period, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from prior years, was to reduce 
the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio to reasonable level in order to secure access to finance at a reasonable cost. The 
debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at the end of reporting periods were as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Total debt 219,423 209,066
Less: cash and cash equivalents (275,423) (262,599)
   

Net debt N/A N/A
   

Total equity 38,040 37,756
   

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio N/A N/A
   

The externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Company to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it 
has to have a public float of at least 25% of its issued shares throughout the year. The Company was not informed 
of any change in its shareholdings that would lead to its non-compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year.
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 23 30,020 30,020
    

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 33,330 37,961
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 134 118
Bank and cash balances 1,103 2,995
    

Total current assets 34,567 41,074
    

TOTAL ASSETS 64,587 71,094
    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 18,957 18,957
Reserves 33(b) (11,637) 3,106
    

Total equity 7,320 22,063
    

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 780 808
Amount due to subsidiaries 48,187 48,223
Interest free loans from CCI 8,300 –
    

Total current liabilities 57,267 49,031
    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 64,587 71,094
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 18 June 2021 and are signed on its by:

He Chenguang Bao Yueqing
Director Director
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reserves movement of the Company

Share 
premium

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 April 2019 1,354,838 1,483 (1,207,510) 148,811
Loss for the year – – (145,705) (145,705)
Share-based payments
 — lapsed share options (note 35) – (1,483) 1,483 –
     

At 31 March 2020 1,354,838 – (1,351,732) 3,106
     

At 1 April 2020 1,354,838 – (1,351,732) 3,106
Loss for the year – – (14,743) (14,743)
     

At 31 March 2021 1,354,838 – (1,366,475) (11,637)
     

34. RESERVES

(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the 
Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the 
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off 
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(ii) Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares of 
the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at 
the time of the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 2002.
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34. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iii) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance 
with the accounting policies set out in note 4(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Statutory reserve
The statutory reserve, which is non-distributable, is appropriated from the profit after taxation of the 
Group’s PRC subsidiaries under the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.

(v) Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve represents equity-settled share-based payments to certain eligible 
participants of the Group recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-based 
payments in note 4(r) to the consolidated financial statements.

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme
The purpose of the Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) is to provide incentives and rewards to 
eligible participants who may contribute to the growth and development of the Group. Eligible participants include 
the employees (including executive directors), non-executive directors (including independent non-executive 
directors), any consultants, suppliers or customers, employees of any invested entity and any person who, in the 
sole discretion of the Board has contributed or may contribute to the Group eligible for share options under the 
Scheme.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 August 2013, the Company’s shareholders approved the 
adoption of the Scheme. The Scheme became effective on 7 August 2013 and, unless otherwise cancelled or 
amended, the Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares under the Scheme which may be allotted and issued upon the exercise of all 
options which initially shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the 
Scheme. Thereafter, if refreshed, the maximum number shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date 
of approval of the refreshed limit by the shareholders. The aggregate number of shares of the Company which 
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any 
other share option schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in 
issue from time to time. No options shall be granted under any schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
if this will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options 
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company to each eligible participant in any 
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date 
of grant.
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of 
their respective associates, is required to be approved by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any 
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or any independent non-executive director of the Company, or 
to any of their respective associates, such that within any 12-month period, in aggregate in excess of 0.1% of the 
shares of the Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the 
Company’s shares at the date of each offer) in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to shareholders’ approval in a 
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of 
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is 
determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later 
than ten years from the date of the offer of the share options.

The subscription price for a share of the Company in respect of any particular option granted under the Scheme 
(which shall be payable upon exercise of the option) shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall 
determine, save that such price will not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of the 
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business 
day (and for this purpose shall be taken to be the date of the Board meeting at which the Board proposes to grant 
the options); (b) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Details of the outstanding options granted to employees and directors under the Scheme as at the end of reporting 
periods are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period
Exercise 

price
Number of shares issuable 

under options granted
HK$ 2021 2020

’000 ’000
      

26 August 2016 Immediately 26 August 2016 to
 25 August 2019
 (both days inclusive)

0.53 – –

      

Options not exercised were expired after the exercisable period.



SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED120

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2021 2020

Number of 
share options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

share options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
’000 HK$ ’000 HK$

     

Outstanding at the beginning of the year – N/A 7,800 0.53
Granted during the year – N/A – N/A
Lapsed during the year – N/A (7,800) 0.53
   

Outstanding at the end of the year – N/A – N/A
   

Exercisable at the end of the year – N/A – N/A
   

There is no outstanding share option as at 31 March 2021 and 2020. All share options had lapsed during the year 
ended 31 March 2020.
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or 
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 
financing activities.

1 April 2020 Fund raised Repayment

Early 
termination 

of lease

Interest 
expenses 
(note 11)

Exchange 
differences

31 March 
2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Promissory note 109,515 – – – 1,889 – 111,404

Interest free loans from CCI
 (note 28) – 8,300 – – – – 8,300

Lease liabilities (note 30) 6,715 – (4,278) (299) 349 244 2,731
        

116,230 8,300 (4,278) (299) 2,238 244 122,435
        

1 April 
2019

Impact on 
initial 

application of 
HKFRS 16

Restated 
balance at 

1 April 2019 Fund raised Repayment
Change of 

modification

Interest 
expenses 
(note 11)

Exchange 
differences

31 March 
2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
          

Promissory note 107,621 – 107,621 – – – 1,894 – 109,515

Interest free loans from CCI – – – 3,700 (3,700) – – – –

Lease liabilities (note 30) – 14,794 14,794 – (6,176) (2,217) 800 (486) 6,715
          

107,621 14,794 122,415 3,700 (9,876) (2,217) 2,694 (486) 116,230
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW (CONTINUED)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases comprise the following:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within operating cash flows – 346
Within investing cash flows – 785
Within financing cash flows 3,929 5,376
Exchange difference – –
   

3,929 6,507
   

These amounts relate to the following:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Operating lease payment – 346
Right-of-use assets prepayment – 785
Lease rental payment under lease liabilities 3,929 5,376
   

Total lease rental paid 3,929 6,507
   

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2020: Nil).

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Property, plant and equipment
 — Contracted but not provide for 665 613
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39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has not entered into any short-term leases during the year ended 31 March 2021.

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with related parties

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest free loans from CCI 8,300 3,700

Promotion and Management Service income from CCC 562 9,498

Interest on promissory note payable to CCI (1,889) (1,894)

Salaries and allowance paid to a close family member of 
 an executive director (618) (668)

Service fee to CCC
 — Web advertising expenses – (2,856)
 — Customer service hotline rental (1,014) (4,208)
 — Discount of customer service hotline rental (note) 245 –
 — CRC Shentong Card payment system management (290) (7,088)
 — Server hosting service (3,300) (10,946)
 — Discount of server hosting service (note) 1,100 –

Service fee to related companies
 — Web advertising expenses (3,262) (3,202)
 — Discount of web advertising expenses (note) 3,262 –
 — Heilongjiang Operation and Management Contract (52) (1,346)
 — Rental of competition venue – (160)
 — Office rental (1,296) (1,182)
   

Note: Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, total discount on service fees of HK$4,607,000 (2020: Nil) have been granted by 
CCC and a related company during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Two related parties have provided course venue to the Group with nil consideration for the year ended 31 
March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

(c) A wholly owned subsidiary of CCC has provided office space to the Group with nil consideration for the year 
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

(d) The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Short-term benefits 4,098 6,762
Post-employment benefits – –
Other long-term benefits – –
Share-based payments – –
Termination benefits – –
   

4,098 6,762
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